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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2025
20255
HK$’000

THET

Results (for the year ended 30 June) ¥#& (BZ6A30H LEE)
— Revenue — Wz 57,311 208,612 25,292 60,969 98,404
— Attributable loss® — EEEE (44,226) (12,420) (12,183) (50,869) (59,822
— Attributable loss from continuing —EEEE - RERHELE

operations’ ES M (44,226) (12,420) (12,745) (52,410) (68,522)
— Attributabole profit from discontinued ~ — FE4E &K — & B & 1F

operations' mEER = - 562 1,541 8,700
— Dividends - KE - - - - —
— Loss per share (in HK dollars) — BRERB BT

(restated)”* ()~ (5.03) (1.82) (1.78) (0.03) (0.08)
Financial Position (as at 30 June) MR (R6B30H)
— Cash and cash equivalents® -RekReEH 11,920 14,699 9,147 24,493 135,567
— Total assets - AEHEE 302,180 262,389 174,030 179,045 414,892
— Equity/(Deficit)’ —-Bx%/(FR) 115,423 96,494 111,252 130,855 (6,967)
Financial Ratios (as at 30 June) Btk (K6 A30R)
— Current assets/Current liabilities - RBEE/RPEE 1.4 1.39 3.51 4,98 2.84
— Assets/Equity” - BE/ER' 2.62 2.72 1.56 137 NATER
— Sales/Assets —EEEEE 0.19 0.80 0.15 0.34 0.237
— Gearing ratio (Total borrowings/Equity) — & 5t %5k, & 0.09 NATEA NATEAR NATERB NATER
# Attributable to owners of the Company NG F YN 310

o #2021 6512 A 4 3% i 1 &
- 120244 3 AR A EAR M F HHFHE

Adjusted pursuant to the rights issue in December 2021
* Adjusted pursuant to the share capital reorganisation on 19 March 2024
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ETRRE

CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,
| am pleased to present the Champion Group’s annual report for 2025.

During 2025, the global energy and technology landscapes are undergoing
rapid transformation, driven by the imperatives of decarbonization,
digitalization, and escalating energy demands from Al and electrification. The
Group’s business covers three pivotal sectors: Hydrogen, Data Centre, and
Renewable Energy.

Hydrogen is emerging as a cornerstone for hard-to-abate energy green
sectors. With the Oxyhydrogen Gas produced at significantly lower costs
through cold nuclear fusion technology developed by the Group’s scientists,
combined with the recent advancements in production technology, we
are set to unlock a substantial market for this green energy source . Our
management is confident that this business will generate a significant stream
of revenue for the Group in the years ahead. This project will progressively
scale up production, becoming self-sustaining through its receipt-in-advance
business model. However, if the Company wishes to facilitate a large-scale
and rapid expansion of this business, we will need to secure additional
funding.

The Group has strategically allocated approximately RMB25 million to
support the initial capital-intensive phase of the Oxyhydrogen Project, the
cornerstone of its Green Energy Business in the PRC. Additionally, the Group
has earmarked approximately HK$20 million as working capital to bolster its
Renewable Energy Business operations in Hong Kong and Vietnam. Prior to
the deployment of these reserves, the Group has leveraged its idle cash to
generate interest income significantly exceeding traditional bank deposit rates
by extending loans to carefully selected, reliable borrowers who approached
the Group’s management at various intervals. As these projects progress
through their respective stages of development, the Group will redeploy the
funds received from loan repayments to fuel the growth and expansion of its
Green Energy and Renewable Energy businesses.

Despite the difficulties in sourcing high efficiency chips and the slower
than expected settlement cycle, Data Centres are scaling aggressively to
support Al workloads, incorporating innovative cooling and power solutions
amid power constraints. The market potential still justifies greater effort in
expanding the business in this arena, provided that cash-rich customers can
be secured.

B AR R AP
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ETREHE
CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

We prioritize partnerships with state-owned enterprises, central enterprises,
and entities under local government oversight. However, due to prolonged
capital turnover periods among these customers, we have strategically scaled
back operations in this sector, resulting in a decline in Smart City Solution
Business turnover until supply chain disruptions and settlement delays
improve.

Renewable Energy continues its dominance in electricity generation, with
solar and wind leading breakthroughs in efficiency and deployment. Market
projections indicate robust growth across all sectors through 2030, fueled by
policy support, investments, and technological maturity. Interconnections —
such as renewables powering data centres and hydrogen storage balancing
grids — underscore synergies for a sustainable future. Following the fading
traction in solar photovoltaic systems (“SPV”) in Hong Kong due to the expiry
of the FiT scheme on 31 December 2033, the group has been exploring
other non-FiT SPV in Hong Kong and South East Asia, which would generate
electricity for customers’ own use. Along with such lines of development, the
group has started to build up power storage technigues which are prohibited
under the FiT scheme. Trial pilot projects in Singapore and Vietnam were
successfully accomplished during the fiscal year.

The Group successfully launched sales, design, and installation of SPV
Systems in Southeast Asia, complemented by energy storage solutions, as
part of our strategic expansion to enhance market presence and product
offerings. The SPV Business has solidified its position as a key pillar of our
Renewable Energy Business, with promising negotiations underway in both
Hong Kong and Southeast Asia.

The interplay of geopolitical tensions and protectionist policies significantly
shapes the economic landscape of the Asia-Pacific region. Countries are
adapting to these challenges through strategic policies aimed at fostering
resilience and sustainable growth while navigating the complexities of a
rapidly changing global economy.

Hydrogen, Data Centre, and Renewable Energy form an interconnected triad
essential for net-zero ambitions. Renewables provide the backbone for cheap
green hydrogen production, while data centres’ voracious power needs
accelerate renewable deployments and hydrogen backups. Technological
strides — from efficient electrolyzers to liquid-cooled Al racks and advanced
PV — are mitigating costs and scalability hurdles. Markets project trillions in
value creation by 2030, but success hinges on policy alignment, infrastructure
investment, and supply chain resilience. The group would prioritize cross-
sector collaborations to harness these opportunities amid geopolitical and
climatic risks.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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ETRRE

CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

During the year under review, the group has strategically concentrated
its investments in green energy, achieving a remarkable technological
breakthrough in the production of Oxyhydrogen Gas at a significantly
reduced cost compared to conventional methods. With the launch
of this innovative technology for industrial use in the fourth quarter
of 2025, the group is also poised to expand its market coverage in
tandem with a promising fundraising initiative that has garnered strong
interest, paving way for a strong stream of profits in the coming years.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend my heartfelt
appreciation to our management team and staff for their unwavering
dedication and tireless efforts. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders for their continued support and trust.

Ms. WONG Man Winny
Chairperson
Hong Kong

29 September 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Green Energy Business

During the year under review, the Group has strategically concentrated
its investments in green energy, achieving a remarkable technological
breakthrough in the production of Oxyhydrogen Gas at a significantly reduced
cost compared to conventional methods. With plans to launch this innovative
technology for industrial use in the fourth quarter of 2025, the Group is also
poised to expand its market coverage in tandem with a promising fundraising
initiative that has garnered strong interest.

Hydrogen is emerging as a cornerstone for hard-to-abate energy green
sectors. With the Oxyhydrogen Gas produced at significantly lower costs
through cold nuclear fusion technology developed by the Group’s scientists,
combined with the recent advancements in production technology, we are set
to unlock a substantial market for this green energy source. Our management
is confident that this business will generate a significant stream of revenue
for the Group in the years ahead. This project will progressively scale up
production, becoming self-sustaining through its receipt-in-advance business
model.

On 27 September 2025, our Group proudly launched the world’s first
scalable “Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas System” at Canadian-
American School, Zhaoqing (28 &2 4R). The official commissioning
ceremony for this generator is scheduled for the morning of 30 September
2025. The clean and efficient energy produced by this equipment — “Innovative
Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas” — is protected by the Group’s exclusive, globally
pioneering patent technology. This milestone signifies a major breakthrough in
the practical application of green energy and further solidifies our leadership
position within the industry.

Our business model is centered on selling steam, which is generated by
boilers fueled by our proprietary on-site Oxyhydrogen Gas. The Oxyhydrogen
Machines that produce this gas will remain the Group’s assets. In essence,
we sell the utility (steam), heat and eventually the Oxyhydrogen Gas as a
service, not the physical equipment.

“Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas” possesses the capability to widely
replace existing fossil fuels. Its combustion process achieves near-zero
emissions and offers comprehensive advantages over traditional petroleum-
based energy sources, including cleanness, high efficiency, safety, and low
cost. This energy source has broad applications across multiple sectors
such as industrial steam supply, commercial and industrial hot water, metal
processing and forging, and as a replacement for diesel and gasoline in power
generation, comprehensively covering energy usage scenarios across various
industries. Leveraging advanced manufacturing techniques, we effectively
control costs while simultaneously assisting enterprises and institutions in
reducing their comprehensive energy costs and carbon emissions.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
8 Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the product launch, market reception has been exceptionally positive,
with numerous customers expressing strong interest in collaborating on
this revolutionary product. Evaluations based on the current cost structure
indicate that this business is projected to achieve highly attractive gross
profit margins. On 28 September 2025, the Group entered into a significant
steam supply contract with a leading textile enterprise located within the
National Chuangxing Science Park in Xintang, Zengcheng, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province. This collaboration marks our successful entry into this
important industrial park, where we will provide industrial steam for the entire
park. The initial phase involves a daily steam supply of 600 tonnes, priced
within the range of RMB180 to 300 per tonne. As the park progressively
ramps up its production capacity, the daily steam demand is forecast to
increase substantially, potentially reaching approximately 100,000 tonnes.
This single contract alone is expected to generate no less than RMB10 million
in stable, positive annual cash flow for the Group.

Building on current operational experience and market feedback, the Group
has established a solid foundation for the rapid expansion of its green
energy business. We remain committed to promoting the widespread
practical application of “Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas “across
multiple industries, supporting the national “Dual Carbon” goals, and driving
sustainable growth and energy structure transformation.

The Group has strategically allocated approximately RMB25 million to
support the initial capital-intensive phase of the Oxyhydrogen Project, the
cornerstone of its Green Energy Business in the PRC. Additionally, the Group
has earmarked approximately HK$20 million as working capital to bolster its
Renewable Energy Business operations in Hong Kong and Vietnam. Prior to
the deployment of these reserves, the Group has leveraged its idle cash to
generate interest income significantly exceeding traditional bank deposit rates
by extending loans to carefully selected, reliable borrowers who approached
the Group’s management at various intervals. As these projects progress
through their respective stages of development, the Group will redeploy the
funds received from loan repayments to fuel the growth and expansion of its
Green Energy and Renewable Energy businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart City Business

We place a premium on forging partnerships with state-owned enterprises,
central enterprises, and those under local government oversight. Although

these

clients have experienced extended capital turnover periods, their robust

foundations and substantial governmental backing significantly mitigate the
risk of bad debts. This strategic approach not only protects our investments
but also positions us for sustainable growth in an increasingly challenging
economic landscape. That said, we have strategically scaled back our
operations in this arena until the pace of settlement speeds up again.

Management considers the repayment capacity of China’s state-owned
enterprises (SOEs) and central enterprises to be a focal point of consideration.
Based on the latest economic data and industry analysis, the key points are
as follows:

Overcapacity and High Debt Levels: Some SOEs and central
enterprises are experiencing issues with overcapacity, which has led to
decreased profitability and therefore weakened financial strength;

Government Support: The Chinese government provides strong
backing and guarantees to SOEs and central enterprises, which, to
some extent, reduces systemic financial risks;

Impact of Economic Slowdown: Against the backdrop of slower
economic growth, revenues for these enterprises face increased
pressure, which has a consequential effect on their trade cycle to
service debts;

Reforms and Adjustments: China is actively pursuing reforms of SOEs,
aimed at improving governance structures, reducing non-performing
assets, and enhancing operational efficiency — all measures designed
to strengthen their repayment capacity.

In summary, management reckons that while some SOEs and central
enterprises face challenges regarding repayment ability, overall risk remains
manageable due to government support and ongoing reform initiatives.

10
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Geo-political and Overall Economic
Environment

The Asia-Pacific region has been significantly impacted by various global
economic challenges in recent years, stemming from geopolitical conflicts
and a rise in international protectionism.

Geopolitical Conflicts: Tensions, such as those arising from the South
China Sea disputes, North Korea’s nuclear ambitions, and U.S. — China
relations, have created an unstable environment. These conflicts often lead
to uncertainties in trade and investment, affecting regional economic growth.
Countries in the region might find themselves forced to take sides or adjust
their foreign policies, which can disrupt established trade relationships.

International Protectionism: A shift toward protectionist policies, as seen in
various countries implementing tariffs and trade barriers, has hindered free
trade agreements that previously benefited the Asia-Pacific region. Nations
that rely heavily on exports, such as Japan and South Korea, face challenges
when their goods become less competitive due to increased tariffs in key
markets like the U.S. or the EU. This not only affects individual economies but
also slows down the overall economic growth of the region.

Supply Chain Disruptions: The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted vulnerabilities
in global supply chains, many of which are based in the Asia-Pacific. As
countries reassess their reliance on global supply networks, there is a
movement towards regionalization or diversification of production. This shift
can lead to short-term disruptions but may also create new opportunities for
local industries.

Economic Recovery and Resilience: In response to these challenges,
countries in the region are focusing on building economic resilience. This
includes investing in digitalization, fostering innovation, and enhancing
regional trade agreements, such as the Comprehensive and Progressive
Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP). These efforts aim to create
a more integrated and robust economic environment that can withstand
external shocks.

Climate Change and Sustainability: The region is also grappling with the
economic impacts of climate change, prompting discussions on sustainable
growth. As countries strive to balance economic development with
environmental sustainability, this presents both challenges and opportunities
for innovation and investment in green technologies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) reported a total revenue for the year under review of
approximately HK$57 million as compared with approximately HK$209 million
in 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 72.7 percent. This was
mainly due to the significant decrease in revenue generated from smart city
solution business during the year as a result of the management’s strategy of
scaling back our operations in this arena until the pace of settlement speeds
up again.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss for the year under review was approximately HK$50.3 million (2024:
HK$12.2 million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$44.2 million (2024: approximately HK$12.4 million).
The increase for the year was mainly due to the combined effect (i) the
reduction in contributions from the smart city solution business and renewable
energy business; and (i) the recognition of fair value gain of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.4 million (2024: loss
of approximately HK$19.5 million). Gross profit ratio increased from 5.5% to 7.4%,
primarily due to the decrease in inherently lower margin on smart city solution
business this year. Loss per share for the year under review is HK5.03 cents (2024
HK1.82 cents).

Other Income, Gains and Losses

During the year under review, the Group recognized other gain of
approximately HK$4.8 million (2024: approximately HK$2.2 million).

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year under review increased
by approximately 65.5% percent to approximately HK$37.6 million (2024:
approximately HK$23 million). This increase was primarily attributable to higher
research and administrative expenses associated with the newly initiated
green energy business, that is, the invention of a remarkable technological
breakthrough in the production of Oxyhydrogen Gas at a significantly reduced
cost compared to conventional methods. Notwithstanding this, the current
management remains committed to maintaining a stringent and cost-efficient
overhead structure as part of its strategic approach to enhance return on
investment.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Fair Value Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss

During the year under review, the Group recognised fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.4 million
as compared with the fair value loss of approximately HK$19.5 million last
year. The detailed information is set out in the “Review of Operations” section
below.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year approximately HK$435,000 (2024: approximately
HK$40,000). The increase in finance costs was primarily attributable to the
interest expense incurred on the bank loan obtained during the year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Since its establishment, the Group has consistently operated under a
primary business model centered on delivering comprehensive technology
solutions, integrating relevant hardware and software into tailored packages
for its clients. This approach, referred to as the “Tech Business Model,” is
distinguished by its reliance on continuous innovation, necessitating the
regular introduction of new products to align with the dynamic and fast-
evolving technological environment. Among the core pillars of this model are
the Green Energy Initiative, Smart City Solutions, and Renewable Energy
sectors, which are recognized as integral components of the Group’s
strategic focus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The table below sets out the details of the Tech Business Model of the Smart
City Solution Business and Renewable Energy Business:

Business segments

ES Pk

XK EE®

TRHAADINE T ESW BRI REB A
BAEEREHORMEXEXNADE

Details of the Tech Business Model

MEmERAFE

Renewable Energy
Business

A BEERER

Sales of Smart
Construction Solution
Business

BEREMARTREE

Sales of loT Solution
Business

2k ECES

IDC Business

EMBBETLER

Green Energy
Business

BRERRED

The Group designs and installs SPV system (the hardware) and energy management system (a
byproduct using the loT technology) (the software) for customers, through which customers can
monitor the operation of solar system and the production of energy.
ESEAEPIEMRBHAULCEAGERZSG(ER)NEREERR(EADHBRIMNEE
m(iE8)) BEFAERZANEERGERNOEENERR -

Revenue from the Sales of Smart Construction Solution Business is generated through the design
of hardware stack and development of software by the Group for customers to monitor the on-
site construction progress.
BEEREMATRENEBRAZBAEERABHEASNMFRERMMELS TEEFE
ERSHEIERE -

Revenue from the Sales of loT Solution Business is generated through the design and development
of loT enabling and enabled devices, web and internet interfaces, analytics and customized software
solutions by the Group for customers to use in different scenarios such as classrooms, libraries, etc.
MEBRBATREBGOHERAREARAYBEIENIERE BAENEHEN
H PMEABRFPESITIHUERARTRAERIHE BEEZESSNRERRFTEM
B

The intelligent computing platforms installed by the Group consists of hardware and software to
satisfy the computing functions in different scenarios, in data centres.
AEEZENEEEETaHBEHENTGAKRUBREEPETRSR THEEINEE -

The Group designs and installs Oxyhydrogen Gas Generation Systems in conjunction with
boilers tailored to the specific needs of its customers’ industries, generating steam for various
applications. The Group sells steam to its customers at highly competitive prices while maintaining
ownership of the machines and software. To ensure this business line remains capital-efficient,
the Group requires customers to provide a substantial advance deposit, which approximates the
capital investment required.
FEEHEREFPEXFTRESTE RV LETERBEXNRGHELRERE AZHEER
BREHRZR - SENBARFINERMBTFHER R ANREREETBHOMERE-
RIEREEBREFERNE  FEERTFENEERMGTEAREFNERRANK -

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Smart City Solution Business

The smart city solution business of the Group mainly consists of the Sales
of smart construction solution business, Sales of loT Solution Business,
including Internet Data Centre (“IDC”) Business which involves the sale &
installation of data centre systems, and the business of leasing out internet
data center (collectively “Smart City Solutions Business”).

The Group has been selecting financially stable customers, primarily
government-owned entities, which instills a high level of confidence in their
reliability and minimizes the risk of default. We are all aware that payment
cycles in the Mainland China have been slow due to the struggling economy;
however, the actual demand and strong support these entities receive from
the government further reinforce their stability.

Additionally, our suppliers have been very accommodating by granting
us extended credit periods, recognizing that most of our customers are
government-owned enterprises with low credit risk, even though these
customers also require lengthy credit terms from us.

The Group is dedicated to building long-term relationships with our
customers. We have implemented proactive measures to ensure the
successful execution of our projects, including timely installation and rigorous
testing. These efforts are designed to provide our customers with reliable and
efficient solutions tailored to their specific needs.

Moreover, our commitment to cultivating relationships with sizable and
reputable clients has been a crucial factor in our success. Our customer base
primarily consists of state-owned enterprises and well established publicly
listed companies, reflecting the Group’s strong reputation and credibility in
the Mainland market.

However, during the period under review, the data centre business in China
has faced significant stagnation due to a combination of factors, primarily
stemming from a shortage of crucial semiconductor chips and systems
exacerbated by geopolitical sanctions. More detailed analyses of the situation
is given in the Outlook section of this report.

Despite the strong financial standing and significant governmental backing
of these customers, they have faced prolonged capital turnover periods. In
response, we have strategically reduced our operations in this sector until the
pace of settlement accelerates once more.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business

Since 2018, the Group has invested significant resources into the research
and development of our Solar Photovoltaic (SPV) technology products.
It's important to note that the Renewable Energy Business encountered
substantial challenges in early years due to factors beyond our control. These
challenges included delays in obtaining necessary approvals and permits,
and the obstacles and additional costs incurred due to frequent changes of
requirements by the power company.

Moreover, the Hong Kong Government’s unexpected reduction in Feed-
in Tariff (FiT) rates in the previous year deterred some customers from
proceeding with their orders. It is crucial to recognize that the resilience
of businesses across all sectors necessitates a transitional period for
adaptation and recovery. The scheduled termination of the Feed-in Tariff (FiT)
scheme in Hong Kong by December 2033 indicates that the internal rate
of return for the Solar Photovoltaic (SPV) renewable energy business has
entered a phase of diminishing returns. This development has diminished
the incentives for investors to sustain their investments in this sector within
Hong Kong. In response to these challenges, the Group has proactively
engaged with customers to promote the installation of SPV systems for their
own use post the FiT scheme’s expiration, a strategy that is both technically
and economically viable, particularly when coupled with the subsequent
installation of energy storage systems.

After the above adaptation, the Group’s Renewable Energy Business now
consists of

(i) the sales of SPV system (the “Sales of SPV Business”); and

(i) feed-in tariff rates business (the “FiT Rates Business”).

On a positive note, the Group successfully initiated sales, design, and
installation of its SPV Systems to customers in Southeast Asia, along with
energy storage systems, as part of our strategic efforts to expand our market
presence and product portfolio.

The SPV Business has emerged as a core component of the Renewable
Energy Business, both in Hong Kong and Southeast Asia, where promising
business negotiations are currently underway.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Green Energy Business

Oxyhydrogen contains a mixture of hydrogen (H,) and oxygen (O,) gases. It is
often produced by the electrolysis of water, resulting in these two gases being
combined in a specific ratio, typically close to 2:1 (hydrogen to oxygen), which
corresponds to the proportions in water (H,0). When ignited, this mixture
can produce a powerful and clean flame used in various applications. Due to
its high production costs, it is traditionally used in oxyhydrogen welding and
cutting, producing a very high-temperature flame suitable for precise metal
work. In August 2024, the Group reached a significant milestone by securing
official validation of its technology from respected government examination
bodies in the People’s Republic of China. Subsequently, in December 2024,
the Group obtained formal certification from Société Générale de Surveilance (SGS).
This pivotal endorsement has paved the way for the initial trial production
of our innovative Oxyhydrogen Gas System, which utilizes our proprietary
technology to produce oxyhydrogen gas at a very low cost as an alternative
fuel for heat and power generation.

To facilitate the Group’s entry into the consumer market, instead of directly
selling oxyhydrogen gas, the Group will sell steam generated by tailor-made
boilers heated using oxyhydrogen gas. The steam market in the PRC is vast,
with extensive applications across various industries.

On 27 September 2025, our Group proudly launched the world’s first
scalable “Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas System” at Canadian-
American School, Zhaoging (£ 1% £4). The official commissioning
ceremony for this generator is scheduled for the morning of 30 September
2025. The clean and efficient energy produced by this equipment — “Innovative
Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas” — is protected by the Group’s exclusive, globally
pioneering patent technology. This milestone signifies a major breakthrough in
the practical application of green energy and further solidifies our leadership
position within the industry.

“Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas” possesses the capability to widely
replace existing fossil fuels. Its combustion process achieves near-zero
emissions and offers comprehensive advantages over traditional petroleum-
based energy sources, including cleanness, high efficiency, safety, and low
cost. This energy source has broad applications across multiple sectors
such as industrial steam supply, commercial and industrial hot water, metal
processing and forging, and as a replacement for diesel and gasoline in power
generation, comprehensively covering energy usage scenarios across various
industries. Leveraging advanced manufacturing techniques, we effectively
control costs while simultaneously assisting enterprises and institutions in
reducing their comprehensive energy costs and carbon emissions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the product launch, market reception has been exceptionally positive,
with numerous customers expressing strong interest in collaborating on
this revolutionary product. Evaluations based on the current cost structure
indicate that this business is projected to achieve highly attractive gross
profit margins. On 28 September 2025, the Group entered into a significant
steam supply contract with a leading textile enterprise located within the
National Chuangxing Science Park in Xintang, Zengcheng, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province. This collaboration marks our successful entry into this
important industrial park, where we will provide industrial steam for the entire
park. The initial phase involves a daily steam supply of 600 tonnes, priced
within the range of RMB 180 to 300 per tonne. As the park progressively
ramps up its production capacity, the daily steam demand is forecast to
increase substantially, potentially reaching approximately 100,000 tonnes.
This single contract alone is expected to generate no less than RMB10 million
in stable, positive annual cash flow for the Group.

Building on current operational experience and market feedback, the Group
has established a solid foundation for the rapid expansion of its green
energy business. We remain committed to promoting the widespread
practical application of “Innovative Ecoglory Oxyhydrogen Gas “across
multiple industries, supporting the national “Dual Carbon” goals, and driving
sustainable growth and energy structure transformation.

This business model not only accelerates the full-scale development of the
Oxyhydrogen Machine but also bolsters our overall cash position. As a result,
the Group is well-positioned to rapidly expand its Green Energy Business,
driving sustainable growth and establishing a dominant market presence.

Cultural Products

As in previous years, the Company continues to adopt a cautious approach
in managing its cultural products. We remain vigilant in monitoring market
conditions to identify and capitalize on optimal opportunities for selling
select items from the Group’s inventory at favorable prices. Furthermore, we
showcase our cultural products, which are also esteemed works of art, on
the Company’s website to enhance public awareness. These strategies align
with our established practices from prior years.

Securities Investments

As part of the Group’s short-term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of
which are as follows:

During the Period, the Group recorded an overall fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$19.4 million
which was attributable to positive market sentiment on the stock market. (2024:
fair value loss of approximately HK$19.5 million).

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the fair value of the listed equity investments in
Hong Kong classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$36.5 million (30 June 2024: approximately
HK$10.4 million). These investment portfolios comprised 8 (30 June 2024: 8
equity securities listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) of which 6 (30 June 2024: 6) equity securities are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange while the remaining 2 (30 June 2024: 2)
equity securities are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

A summary of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is given below:
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Financial assets at fair value RARBEGABEZERMEE
through profit or loss
Ziling International Financial Holdings Limited LHERSRERERDA

(Stock code: 8340) (B 1 157 - 8340) 156,100 017% 12,571,851  (12,525,801) 46,050 0.13%
GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited EETEINBRAR

(Stock code: 290) (R - 290) 1,423,400 0.02% 2,334,376 (327,382) 2,006,984 5.50%
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd BRMRBERAA

(Stock code: 8292) (BRARSF - 8292) 180,000 0.03% 2,286,000 (2,188,800) 97,200 0.26%
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited AAERERDR

(Stock code: 102) (B R : 102) 2,500,000 0.06% 2,434,500 (2,434,500) - 0.00%
China Star Entertainment Limited FHESEERAA

(Stock code: 326) (AR - 326) 12,240,000 0.50% 0885445 18,144,145 28,029,600 76.78%
Kantone Holdings Limited EREEERLA

(Stock code: 1059) (B - 1059) 15,435,000 4.12% 5,853,705 (1,609,080 4,244,625 11.63%
China Environmental Resources Group Limited ~ R EIR & REEE R A A

(Stock code: 1130) (BARE : 1130) 2,340,000 0.48% 518,156 862,444 1,380,600 3.78%
FEG Holdings Corporation Limited EFEREEERAA

(Stock code: 1413) (BRI 1413) 10,800,000 0.45% 2,008,600 (1,306,800) 702,000 1.92%

37,892,663 (1,385,774) 36,507,059 100.0%
BENEEEERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes:

20

8340 Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited

Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited (“Zijing Financial”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Zijing Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of corporate finance advisory
services in Hong Kong.

According to Zijing Financial’s interim report for the year ended 30 June
2025, the Zijing Financial Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$40.8 million and total comprehensive loss of approximately HK$2.5
million. As mentioned in our interim report 2024/2025, they remained
on track and their business was considered viable and sustainable.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 156,100 shares in Zijing
Financial and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of
HK$12,525,801 in respect of such investment during the Year. There
was no disposal of the shares in Zijing Financial during the Period.

290 GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited (“GoFintech Quant”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “GoFintech Quant Group”)
are principally engaged in securities and insurance brokerage and
provision of asset management, corporate finance, margin financing
and money lending services.

As mentioned in the interim report 2024/2025 we have kept assessing
the status of GoFintech and we will sell the stock at the appropriate
time and price level, This plan has not changed since the time when we
released our interim report 2024/2025.

According to GoFintech’s annual report for the year ended 31 March
2025, GoFintech Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$863
million and total comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$30.1
million.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 1,423,400 shares in GoFintech and
the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of HK$327,382 in
respect of such investment during the Period. There was no disposal of
shares of GoFintech during the Period.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025

XK EE®

FHFERE @
GE=E
1. 8340LFEEL@MERA A

e

ZHERERARARNTEANER]) &
HfBAR (MBI RAKE)EIERNE
BRHZBRE -

BIEEAEBERE2024F 12531 HHF
W RFeREEMNKALAL0808F
TL AR A RA A2508 BT EANRK
f94E2024/2025 F F B &5 R T2 2 A9 -
P EBFERBFELY  WHERE
EAITEAFER -

£}

L ok

HE2025F6 A30H © £ @ FHH XA
B #9156,100/% & 10 - FE A FE N - %
"EW R REREE R12,525801%
Lo REIBEEHA IREEEHNEEN

R -

%

290 E B FRIHBERL A
BEE2TalfEaRAA(BEEE&FA
MOLEMBAR (REEEEF AN
EEDIEN=EHLRRERL AR
RHEEEEE CERE FRBER
PE BRTE

1F 20 F% 1F9 72 2024/2025 4 & Hi 3R 45 7 4R
B BRMFET GRS AR MR
o THEEEENREAMERKELES
Z I o B KT E 5 2024/2025 F R Hi 3R
HUAZKR - WETEIR B E -

RIEE = A #HE £2025F3A31H 1IEH
Fi BEAFEEKEFL863EE T
FURAFI4]3,0108 B THBEAE S H -

HE20256 A30H £BEHEH = A
7% B 691,423,400 0% % 15 - I 7E [0 B8 3
NZREM R KRBT EIB B327,382%
e REEER - Wk H & B F Al H %
B &R o



EEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3.

8292 Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd

Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (“Worldgate”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Worldgate Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of comprehensive international freight services, transportation
services as well as warehousing services to customers worldwide and
trading of used mobile phones in Hong Kong.

According to Worldgate’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024, Worldgate Group recorded revenue of approximately
Malaysian Ringgit (“‘RM”) 85 million and total comprehensive loss of
approximately RM12.2 million. However, under the current market
situation, as stated in our interim report 2024/2025, our plan is still to
sell the stock if price is right.

As 30 June 2025, the Group held 180,000 shares in Worldgate and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of HK$2,188,800 in
respect of such investment during the Period.

There was no disposal of the shares in Worldgate during the Period.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited

Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (“Summit Ascent”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Summit Ascent Group”)
conducted through non-wholly owned subsidiaries in the operation of
gaming and hotel.

Summit Ascent delisted in Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 1
September 2025. The Group will closely monitor the latest development
of Summit Ascent and take appropriate investment decision from time
to time.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 2,500,000 shares in Summit

Ascent and recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,434,500
in respect of such investment during the Period.

There was no disposal of the shares in Summit Ascent during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

5.

22

326 China Star Entertainment Limited

China Star Entertainment Limited (“China Star Entertainment”), and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “China Star Entertainment
Group”) are principally engaged in investment, production, distribution
and licensing of films and television drama series, provision of artist
management services and properties development and investment
operations.

According to China Star’'s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024, China Star Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$728.2 million and total comprehensive expenses of approximately
HK$133.5 million.

Looking forward, China Star Entertainment Group will continue to grasp
favorable opportunities brought by its multi-media and entertainment
business and will enhance the development of commercial mall in
Tiffany House as well as sales of residential units and will strive to
achieve high quality development and successfully monetizing the value
of the Property C7.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 12,240,000 shares in China Star
and the Group recorded an unrealised gain of HK$18,144,145 in
respect of such investment.

There was no disposal of shares of China Star Entertainment during the
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

6.

1059 Kantone Holdings Limited

Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Kantone Group”) are specialised
in critical messaging systems and principally engaged in sales of
systems including software licensing and provision of installation and
maintenance service, leasing of system products.

According to Kantone Group annual report 2024, Kantone Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$152.3 million and total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$15.9 million. Kantone
Group remained on track and their business was considered as
sustainable.

Our studies indicate that the Critical Messaging Market is projected to
experience substantial growth at a significant CAGR, maintaining its
position in the foreseeable future.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 15,435,000 shares in Kantone
Group and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of
HK$1,609,080 in respect of such investment during the Period.

1130 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (“CER”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “CER Group”) are principally
engaged in metal recycle business, motor and motor accessories
business, car parking spaces rental, money lending business, hotel
and related business, securities trading and investment business and
distribution of plantation products, environmental system and plantation
materials.

According to CER Group interim report 2024/2025, CER Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$29.8 million and total
comprehensive loss of approximately HK$19.0 milion. CER Group
remained on track and their business was considered as sustainable.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 2,340,000 shares in CER
Group and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised gain of
HK$862,444 in respect of such investment during the Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

8. 1413 FEG Holdings Corporation Limited
FEG Holdings Corporation Limited (“FEG”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “FEG Group”) are principally engaged in foundation
works services in Hong Kong.

According to FEG annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025,
FEG Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$405.0 million and
total comprehensive expense of HK$81.5 million.

EFG Group remain stable on its operation and their business was
considered as sustainable.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 10,800,000 shares in FEG
Group and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of
HK$1,306,800 in respect of such investment during the Period.

Money Lending Transactions

Money lending services were provided by a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, which operates as a money lender, and were also offered
incidentally by the Company’s subsidiary in the Mainland of China (Mainland).
The Mainland subsidiary has never presented itself to the public as a money
lender nor sought out borrowers for loans. In Hong Kong, money lending
occurred on a sporadic basis, contingent upon the availability of funds and
referrals from the directors, as the Company did not engage in marketing of
these services. Consequently, the Directors do not view money lending as a
principal or core business of the Company during this fiscal year.

The lending activities were limited to term loans with fixed interest rates.
Each proposed loan was evaluated individually, with no specific industry
designated for lending purposes. However, the Company does maintain a
money lending checklist that the Directors must adhere to if the need arises.
Loans are only issued from idle funds and are extended solely to individuals
or their companies who approach the subsidiary’s directors through personal
connections. The directors then conduct a credit assessment, and if the
results are satisfactory, they submit their recommendations to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further evaluation and approval.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The assessment and Know Your Client (KYC) processes adhere to the
following procedures:

—

Verify the identities of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors (where
appropriate).

2. Confirm the address proof for both the borrowers and guarantors.

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and the company
number, if applicable.

4. Review the memorandum and articles of association for both the
borrower and the guarantor, if applicable.

5. Consult with external legal advisors, if necessary.

After collecting and verifying the background information of the prospective
borrowers, the director of our Hong Kong money-lending operation or
the director from the Mainland subsidiary will conduct a loan assessment
process. This includes evaluating the creditworthiness and financial standing
of the borrowers by reviewing the management accounts, and the personal
financial background of the guarantor, where applicable.

Taking into account the borrower’s financial condition, the extent and quality
of collaterals or guarantees, as well as the loan tenure, the director of the
Hong Kong money-lending operation or the relevant Mainland subsidiary
will propose an interest rate aimed at rationalising profit while ensuring
compliance with the interest rate regulations in Hong Kong and the Mainland.
This is to ensure that we do not impose interest rates exceeding the statutory
limits. Normally, the Mainland subsidiary will charge no less than double the
China Loan Prime Rate (CLPR), while the Hong Kong money lender will add a
reasonable premium atop the Hong Kong Prime Rate.

The due diligence report, KYC documentation, and credit assessment
documents, along with the loan amount, terms, and repayment method, will
be submitted to the Group’s directors for approval. Once approval is granted,
the final loan agreement will be executed by our director of the Mainland
subsidiary, along with the borrower and the guarantor.

The directors of the Hong Kong money lender or the relevant Mainland
subsidiary will maintain personal contact with the borrowers periodically
throughout the duration of the loan. They will begin reminding the borrowers
about repayment approximately one month before the respective due dates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The following are our standard procedures for handling delinquent loans:
A demand letter will be sent to the borrower requesting immediate repayment.

Our legal counsel in Hong Kong or the Mainland will be instructed to issue a
demand letter to both the borrower and the guarantor, demanding immediate
repayment.

Formal legal action will be initiated if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  No settlement arrangement is reached within 14 working days from the
date of our legal demand letter.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no signs that any Loan would become delinquent.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company’s subsidiary in the
Mainland China (Mainland) entered into lending agreements (“Loan”) with six
independent third-party companies in the PRC. The total amount of loans as
at 30 June 2025 was RMB25.5 million (RMB4.0 million as at 30 June 2024).
Each loan had a duration of 12-24 months started from the drawdown date,
with an interest rate of 6-8% per annum, consistent with the rate in 2024.

As at 30 June 2025, the Company’s money lending business in Hong
Kong entered into lending agreements with eight independent third party
individuals. The total loan amount as at 30 June 2025 was HK$21.3 milion (HK$2.5
million as at 30 June 2024), loan tenor ranging from six to twelve months from
the drawdown date. The interest rate for these loans ranged from 8%-8.5%
per annum.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Dongguan Hotel Project

On 2 May 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with a purchaser
to dispose of the Group’s entire interest (“Sale Shares”) in Honest City
Enterprises Limited (FE3k b % B R A 7
to assign those loans owing by the Disposal Company to the Company as
at Completion on the Completion Date (“Sale Loan”) to the purchaser, and
the purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Shares and take
up the assignment of the Sale Loan at the consideration of HK$45.9 million
(“Disposal”). The major asset of the Disposal Company is the 48.45% interest
in a parcel of land located at 6 East Huanshi Road, Tangxia Town, Dongguan
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (FEARKEAMBEERE R=ME
[E B3R T R X 65%) with a total site area of about 25,235.63 square metres
and a hotel erected thereon with a total gross floor area of approximately
38,873 square metres, which is owned by the Company’s indirect Mainland
Subsidiary (“Property”).

) (“the Disposal Company”) and

On 18 July 2023, as more than 50% of the votes were cast in favor of the
resolution for the Disposal (the “Resolution”), the Resolution was duly passed
by the shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 18 July 2023. The Completion of the
Disposal will be any day within 6 months after the 18 July 2023 or on a date
mutually agreed upon in advance by the parties in writing.

The Group acquired the indirect interest of the Property in 2017. The Group
had been looking for opportunities to re-develop the Property over these
years and had maintained minimal investment in refurbishing the Property.
Management of the Property had been out-sourced and the Group had
been receiving stable but not remarkable returns. As the real estate market
in the PRC has been depressed and such situation is likely to persist in the
coming few years, the Board considers that the Disposal represents a good
opportunity for the Group to realize its investment in the Disposal Group, and
improve its liquidity and overall financial position, and reallocate its financial
resources for optimizing the operational efficiency and to enhance the return
to the Group. For details, please referred to our announcements dated 2 May
2023 and 18 July 2023, and the circular dated 27 June 2023. Such disposal
was completed on 30 October 2023.

The Group intended to use the net proceeds from the Disposal of
approximately HK$44,900,000 as general working capital of the Group, and
for development of the existing projects of the Group as well as potential
business and investment opportunities which may arise from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

During 2025, the global energy and technology landscapes are undergoing
rapid transformation, driven by the imperatives of decarbonization,
digitalization, and escalating energy demands from Al and electrification. The
Group’s business covers three pivotal sectors: Green Energy (represented by
Hydrogen & Oxyhydrogen), Data Centre, and Renewable Energy.

Hydrogen is emerging as a cornerstone for hard-to-abate sectors, with the
Oxyhydrogen Gas invented by the Group’s scientists, the advancements in
production and storage poised to reduce costs significantly.

Despite the difficulties in sourcing high efficiency chips and the slower
than expected settlement cycle, Data Centres are scaling aggressively to
support Al workloads, incorporating innovative cooling and power solutions
amid power constraints. The market potential still justifies greater effort in
expanding the business in this arena, provided that cash-rich customers can
be secured.

Renewable Energy continues its dominance in electricity generation, with
solar and wind leading breakthroughs in efficiency and deployment. Market
projections indicate robust growth across all sectors through 2030, fueled by
policy support, investments, and technological maturity. Interconnections-
such as renewables powering data centres and hydrogen storage balancing
grids-underscore synergies for a sustainable future. Following the fading
traction in solar photovoltaic systems (“SPV”) in Hong Kong due to the expiry
of the FiT scheme on 31 December 2033, the group has been exploring
other non-FiT SPV in Hong Kong and South East Asia, which would generate
electricity for customers’ own use. Along with such lines of development, the
group has started to build up power storage techniques which are prohibited
under the FiT scheme. Trial pilot projects in Singapore and Vietnam were
successfully accomplished during the fiscal year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

A.

Green Energy Business focused on Oxyhydrogen
Gas

Technological Developments

Oxyhydrogen gas is considered a source of green energy because,
like hydrogen, its combustion is exothermic, that is, it results in the
formation of water and the release of energy. Hydrogen technology
in 2025 is marked by accelerated progress in production, storage,
and applications, addressing key barriers like cost and scalability.
Green hydrogen production via electrolysis is advancing rapidly, with
innovations in electrolyzer efficiency and integration with renewables.
For instance, the U.S. hosts 67 planned green hydrogen projects over
the next five years, leveraging advanced proton exchange membrane (PEM)
and alkaline electrolyzers to produce low-carbon fuel at scale. Toyota’s
roadmap at the 2025 Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Seminar emphasizes
modular fuel cell stacks and hydrogen infrastructure for mobility,
targeting broader adoption in heavy-duty transport. Emerging trends
include geologic hydrogen extraction, explored in U.S. Department of
Energy webinars, which could vyield ultra-low-cost natural hydrogen
reserves. Production costs are declining due to the lower costs of
renewables and improvements in catalysts. However, the Oxyhydrogen
that the group produces demands a significantly lower cost than
traditional hydrogen gas. The Oxyhydrogen gas, which is not highly
inflammable, can flow through ordinary plastic pipes without the need
for high-pressure compression, resulting in significant cost reduction in
terms of transportation and storage.

Market Outlook

The hydrogen market is on a trajectory of explosive growth,
transitioning from niche to mainstream energy carrier. Global demand
reached 97 million tonnes (Mt) in 2023 and is projected to surge, with
low-emission production hitting 49 Mt per annum (Mtpa) by 2030
based on announced projects. The green hydrogen segment alone
was valued at HKD 71 billion in 2024, expected to reach HKD 1,050
billion by 2030 at a compound annual growth rate (‘CAGR”) of 56.75%.
Overall hydrogen market revenue is forecasted to grow from HKD 1,750
billion in 2025 to HKD 2,440 billion by 2030. Such market outlook
offers a great opportunity to the group’s Oxyhydrogen gas as an ideal
low cost substitute for hydrogen.
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Green Energy Business focused on Oxyhydrogen
Gas (Continued)

Market Outlook (Continued)

During the product launch phase, this business is expected to be
highly capital-intensive. To support the rollout of this project, the
Group has allocated approximately RMB25 million. Instead of directly
selling the OxyHydrogen Gas machines, the Group will sell the steam
generated by these machines, leveraging the integration with tailor-
made boilers. Following the successful launch of the initial batch of
machines, the Group anticipates securing substantial deposits from
customers prior to the installation of the machines at their premises.
This innovative business model is expected to significantly enhance the
Group’s cash flow, eliminate the constraints of project financing, and
accelerate market penetration. Notably, numerous potential customers
have been eagerly awaiting the successful launch of this project and
have expressed their willingness to provide substantial deposits upon
signing the steam supply agreements. To facilitate the Group’s entry
into the consumer market, instead of directly selling oxyhydrogen gas,
the Group will sell steam generated by tailor-made boilers heated using
oxyhydrogen gas. The steam market in the PRC is vast, with extensive
applications across various industries.

The steam-supply market in the People’s Republic of China (PRC)
is substantial and continues to grow, driven by industrial demand,
urbanization, and environmental regulations.

The PRC government has been intensifying its environmental regulations
to combat air pollution and reduce carbon emissions, driving a shift
away from fossil fuels. This regulatory push has catalyzed the adoption
of cleaner energy solutions, including steam generation from renewable
or low-emission sources. Additionally, the growing emphasis on energy
efficiency has opened doors for advanced steam generation technologies
that are both efficient and environmentally friendly. Despite this, traditional
coal-fired steam generation systems, owing to their low cost, continue to
dominate many areas of the market. The Group’s low-cost Oxyhydrogen
solution offers a compelling resolution to this challenge.

Manufacturing Sector:
industries such as textiles, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and food
processing, remains a significant consumer of steam. These industries
rely on steam for critical processes including heating, drying, and
sterilization. The Group’s primary focus is on the denim processing

The manufacturing sector, encompassing

sector, where negotiations for steam supply have been ongoing for
over six months. Management is confident that these discussions will
culminate in a successful outcome in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

A.

Green Energy Business focused on Oxyhydrogen
Gas (Continued)

Market Outlook (Continued)

Power Generation: While the PRC’s power generation sector is heavily
reliant on coal, there is a growing interest in cleaner energy sources,
including renewable and alternative energy-based steam generation.
The Group has identified this vast market as the next frontier for its
market expansion strategy.

Market Opportunities: The steam-supply market in the PRC is robust,
offering numerous opportunities for innovative and environmentally
friendly solutions. The transition to cleaner energy sources, coupled
with the increasing demand from industrial and urban sectors, positions
this market as a promising area for investment and development. The
Group is well-positioned to capitalize on these trends, leveraging its
low-cost Oxyhydrogen technology to drive sustainable growth and
market leadership.

The steam supply market in the PRC is vast, with estimates suggesting
it is in the range of hundreds of billions of RMB annually. The market
is driven by industrial demand, urbanization, and environmental
regulations, making it a promising area for investment and development.
The transition to cleaner energy sources and the increasing demand
from industrial and urban sectors further underscore the potential for
growth in this market.

Renewable Energy Business

Technological Developments

Renewable energy technologies in 2025 are advancing in
efficiency, integration, and affordability, solidifying their role in global
decarbonization. Solar PV efficiency has surpassed 25% in commercial
modules, with perovskite tandems pushing lab records to 34%,
enabling compact, high-yield installations. Energy storage innovations,
like long-duration flow batteries and solid-state variants, address
intermittency, with U.S. DOE targeting 10-hour discharge by 2026.
Grid-edge tech, including virtual power plants and Al-forecasting,
enhances reliability. Global investments in R&D — HKD 14 ftrillion in
2025 — focus on hybrid systems combining solar, wind, and hydrogen.
Ember’s 2025 review highlights solar’s record 40% clean power share
in 2024, driven by bifacial panels and agrivoltaics.
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Renewable Energy Business (Continued)

Market Outlook

Renewable energy markets are set for unprecedented expansion,
with generation jumping 84% by 2030 to meet data centre and
electrification demands. Global capacity additions reached record highs
in 2024, with clean power at 40% of electricity; solar deployments are
forecast at 655 GW in 2025 alone, though growth may slow to 10%
amid supply chain strains. Overall market size is expected to grow at
a CAGR of 12.17% through 2030, reaching HKD 15,800 billion. Solar
PV will triple from 2023 levels by 2030, serving 67% of electricity needs
alongside wind. Opportunities lie in emerging economies and storage
integration, with Deloitte forecasting a supply-demand gap closure
via accelerated permitting. The group’s Renewable Energy team
successfully completed a trial SPV project in Vietnam during the fiscal
year, and has been negotiating for long-term large scale SPV projects
in Vietnam, with high hope of success.

Smart City Solution Business, focused on Data
Centres

Technological Developments

Data centre innovations in 2025 are centered on efficiency,
sustainability, and Al integration to handle surging computational loads.
Liquid cooling systems are gaining traction, with direct-to-chip and
immersion technologies reducing energy use by up to 40% for high-
density Al servers. Edge computing is expanding, bringing processing
closer to users for low-latency loT and 5G applications. Power
innovations include small modular reactors (SMRs) for nuclear-backed
facilities and hydrogen fuel cells as backups, bridging to full renewables.
Optical transceivers at 1.6T speeds are deploying in hyperscalers,
enabling faster data transfer amid Al demands. Sustainability drives
modular, prefabricated designs that cut construction time by 50%,
per renowned global analysis. Al automation optimizes operations,
predicting failures and balancing loads, while higher-density fiber optics
support exascale computing. Challenges like water usage for cooling
are being addressed via closed-loop systems and atmospheric water
harvesting. Forrester identifies 10 emerging innovations, including
quantum-resistant security and bio-inspired cooling.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

C.

Smart City Solution Business, focused on Data
Centres

Market Outlook

The data centre market is booming, propelled by Al and cloud
expansion, with global capacity tripling by 2030. The sector’s value
stood at HKD 2,700 billion in 2024, projected to reach USD 652 billion
by 2030 at a CAGR of 10.9%. Al-specific data centres are valued at
HKD 5,080 billion in 2025, soaring to HKD 7,280 billion by 2030. Power
demand will rise 165% by 2030, driven by hyperscalers, necessitating
10 GW of new builds in 2025 alone. Capital expenditures could hit HKD
55 trillion globally by 2030, with edge and colocation segments leading.
Constraints like grid bottlenecks may slow growth, but opportunities
in sustainable financing and public-private partnerships position the
sector for resilience.

Conclusion

Hydrogen, Data Centre, and Renewable Energy form an interconnected
triad essential for net-zero ambitions. Renewables provide the
backbone for cheap green hydrogen production, while data centres’
voracious power needs accelerate renewable deployments and
hydrogen backups. Technological strides — from efficient electrolyzers
to liquid-cooled Al racks and advanced PV — are mitigating costs and
scalability hurdles. Markets project trillions in value creation by 2030,
but success hinges on policy alignment, infrastructure investment,
and supply chain resilience. The group would prioritize cross-sector
collaborations to harness these opportunities amid geopolitical and
climatic risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive with reasonable gearing.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had approximately HK$11.9 million (2024:
approximately HK$14.7 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash.

Current assets were approximately HK$257.0 million (2024: approximately
HK$220 million) and current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$181.6
million (2024: approximately HK$158 million). With net current assets of
approximately HK$74.9 million (2024: approximately HK$62 million), the
Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. Gearing ratio at 30 June
2025 is 0.09 (2024: N/A).

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had short term borrowings of approximately
HK$7.1 million (2024: HK$ Nil). Finance costs for the year were approximately
HK$435,000 (2024: approximately HK$40,000).

Fund Raising Activities

A. 2024 Placing
On 27 June 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to place, on a
best effort basis, maximum of 136,764,000 placing Shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES BERIMERBBER®

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities (Continued) KETH@

A. 2024 Placing (Continued) A. 2024 FBLE (&)
The placing of new shares was completed on 19 July 2024 and a total B D R2024E7 198 K - &
of 136,764,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.175 per $£136,764,000 % B & A% 15 E R R & &
Placing Share were placed to not less than six Placees (2024 Placing). f& Bt E R 501758 L& F VRN
The net price of each Placing Share received was approximately AR A (2024 F BE) - FREE RN
HK$0.171. The market price of the share of the Company on 27 June AR FEBEHBOATIE T - KRR BKMHRN
2024, being the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed, was 20246 A27 A (BIET E & ATIEZ B) B
HK$0.203. {8 50.203% 7T °

19 July 2024 Placing of new Ordinary shares ~ Approximately For general working capital purpose  Used on intended
2024%7H19H under general mandate HK$23.0 million of the Group, working capital for AREERR
BE-RERERE #723,000,000/ 7L renewable energy business and data
MEmR centre and investment in the Green/

renewable energy sector,

which is in accordance with the
intention previously disclosed by the
Company
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities (Continued)
A.

36

2024 Placing (Continued)
As at 30 June 2025, the Group had fully utilised the net proceeds of the
2024 Placing as follows:

FeREFERERR

Intended use of net proceeds

BEREMRBBEER®

EETH @

A.

2024 F FiL & (@)

202556 430 8 + 74 % M 2 §) 2024
FREESHEMBZZ2BRBEFHEETT
M

Fully utilised up to

the financial
period ended
30 June 2025
REZ2025F

6 A 30 A Lt B B
HEEZ8EBH
HKS$ (million)
BT (E8)

Allocation
of net proceeds

ECE L]
FHEIE
HK$ (million)
Br(EE)

General working capital of the Group ~ AEE K E2EE S 8.0 8.0
Renewable energy business and A AERERETS R EIEF O
data centre HEES 10.0 10.0
Investment in the Green or renewable 3% & R 4k & s 7] B A RER
energy sector 1T 5.0 5.0
23.0 23.0
2025 Placing B. 2025F @&

On 7 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to place, on
a best effort basis, maximum of 164,112,000 placing shares (2025
Placing).

The placing of new shares was completed and a total of 164,112,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.245 per placing share
were placed to not less than six placees on 4 February 2025. The
net proceeds from the placing, after deducting placing commission,
professional fees and all related expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$38.5 million. The net price of each Placing Share received was
HK$0.238. The market price of the share of the Company on 7 January
2025, being the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed, was
HK$0.295. The Company intends to use the net proceeds mainly for
the working capital for the Green Energy Business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES BERIMERBBER®

(Continued)
Fund Raising Activities (Continued) SEEB @
B. 2025 Placing (Continued) B. 2025FFi & (&)

4 February 2025  Placing of new Ordinary shares  Approximately For working capital specifically for the  Used on intended
2025F2 A4H under general mandate HK$38.5 milion  Green energy business of the Group, R it & A &
BE-REERE #38,500,000/ 7L which is in accordance with the
MEER intention previously disclosed by the
Company

AEEGEEREFNTREE
Be 2 MERARRERNMKE
fEH BIAR A

Utilisation up to

the financial

Allocation period ended

of net proceeds 30 June 2025
RBZE2025F

FRERE 6 H30H Lt
FE D BB EEE A
HK$ (million) HK$ (million)
B (EE) Br(EE)

Working capital specially for the Green K& E 4% B 8 R EFE R EIA
energy business LEES® 38.5 19.9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position. The Group finances its operation
and business development by a combination of internally generated
resources, capital market instruments and banking facilities. All the borrowings
were used by subsidiaries of the Company in the form of fixed loans, margin
loans and promissory notes. As all the Group’s borrowings were denominated
in their local currencies, the currency risk exposure associated with them was
insignificant. The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or
structured product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative
activities. It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through
matching foreign exchange income with expenses and, where significant
exposure to foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments
may be used.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not have any capital commitments
authorised but not contracted for (2024: capital commitment of approximately
HK$5.5 million in relation to the capital injection of a subsidiary located in the
PRC).

Charges

As at 30 June 2025, a property of the Group located in the PRC with carrying
amount approximate to HK$24.1 million has been pledged as collaterals for
the banking facilities of a subsidiary operating in PRC.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had on record a contingent liability of HK$1
million for which provision is not made since, after due consultation with
lawyers, the directors are of the view that a provision is unnecessary as the
chance of winning the case is high. The Group’s subsidiary is the plaintiff in
this High Court case claiming a subcontractor for costs incurred and wasted
in performing a main installation contract amounted to at least HK$0.5 million
plus and the loss of profits in the main and other contracts totalled HK$5.3
million as a result of the defective and substandard work of the subcontractor.
Our claim is supported by a lot of evidence including but not limited to a
Defects Report prepared by qualified independent professional engineers.
Save as disclosed, the Group had no other material contingent liabilities as at
30 June 2025 (30 June 2024 nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

Save as disclosed, there were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, and
future plans for material investments or capital assets during the year ended
30 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WONG Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”), aged 51, has been an executive
Director and the Chairperson of the Board since October 2017. She was the
executive director and Chairperson of Kantone Holdings Limited (stock code:
1059) for the period from 19 October 2017 to 30 December 2021. Ms. Wong
served as the licensed representative of Business Securities Limited from
2003 to 2004. She has over 10 years of experience in corporate management
and investment. Ms. Wong is the sole director of Worldwide Peace Limited,
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company which falls to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”).

As at 30 June 2025, Ms. Wong is deemed to be interested in 110,589,750
shares in the Company, representing approximately 11.23% of the issued
share capital of the Company, through Worldwide Peace Limited, which is
beneficially wholly owned by Ms. Wong, under the SFO.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
40 Annual Report 2025

HITES

E8ut((ExL]) A+ B17F
10ARARITESTHRESSEF - K R2017
F10F19H E2021F 12 A0 B T AE
BEEARAGI(RBEEHARIAMARAA
TRET BEFR 1059 2HITEERE
HEGEFE o BT Y RN2003F 2004 F Hi
EIREEFFARARZEHFERAR - FRD
¥ERMREREATHFLR - ELLAR
FERRAAIZE—EFEFT BRFBERAAAR
ARAIXEZRR(BAREZFHFLPEEO([EF
REEEBH ) EXVEEE 2R 3D 3 2 143X F A
HEE) o

H E2025F6 A30H @ RIEFFESRBEE -
BERTAAMER 2 ERBZREARAA
M 4 4% & % A 110,589,750 A% A& & 7] A% {5 &9 4
= AEARATIE BEITIRA11.23% °



EEREEEEAER

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (“Mr. Liu”), aged 69, has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from October 2020 and continues to serve as
an authorised representative of the Company. He was an Executive Director
of the Company from October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 30 years
of professional experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a
Certified Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu
is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He was an executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited from
October 2016 to October 2020. He is also a director of serval subsidiaries
of the Group. From March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman
of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial Group
Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From January
2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific
Industries Limited (now known as Superactive Group Company Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2025, Mr. Liu beneficially owned 498,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.05% of the issued share capital of
the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (“Mr. Leung”), aged 61, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director
of Kantone (stock code: 1059), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant from 1992 to 1996
in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung was also an independent non-executive director
of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code: 6898), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the period
from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr. Leung is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Da Ming International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1090), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 35, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Chan graduated
from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2011 with a
bachelor’s degree in Electronic & Computer Engineering. Mr. Chan is a young
inventor and entrepreneur in Hong Kong. In 2004, he won the Second Award
in Engineering Category in the 55th Intel International Science and Engineering
Fair in the United States of America for his invention of a smart security
robot. An asteroid no. 20780 was named after him. In 2006, Mr. Chan’s
autobiography “Chan Yik Hei, The Young Man Who Grabbed The Star* (¥
EVFRSF) was published, and became one of the bestsellers on the
Hong Kong Book Fair. He was also the torchbearer of the 54th Olympic torch
relay in Hong Kong and a member of the management committee of The
Church of Christ in China Tam Lee Lai Fun Memorial Secondary School. In
2016, he was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government.
Mr. Chan is one of the founding shareholders of Bull.B Technology Limited,
which provides (i) online platform and development services; and (i) mobile
application development services, including FinTech platform development
and educational apps.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand (“Mr. Wong”), aged 69, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since March 2018. From
January 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial
Group Limited) (stock code: 8029), the shares of which are traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. Formerly a foreign correspondent, he held
various key communications roles in government agencies, the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, a major international charity, and tertiary academic institutions.
He is currently responsible for public relations and communications at an
educational institution.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. NG Kwok Leung (“Mr. Ng”), aged 43, has been appointed as Chief
Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Company since June
2024.

Mr. Ng obtained a Master of Science in Professional Accountancy from the
University of London, and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 20
years of experience in corporate finance, accounting and auditing fields. Prior
to his appointment, Mr. Ng had served in companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and an international accountants firm.

Mr. Ng is a fellow member of the ACCA, fellow member of the HKICPA and
Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in system sales including renewable energy systems and the related
engineering work, software development, licensing and customization, of
system products including loT which, in turn, includes smart construction site
and smart city, trading of cultural products, and strategic investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2025 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 39. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 57 to 82. The above discussions form part of
this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish separately
an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report simultaneously
with this report in compliance with the provision set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners
are the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company
is committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with
its employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. Employees are provided with health insurance coverage
for their medical expenses. The Group also works together with its business
partners to provide high quality products and services to achieve the goal of
sustainable development and contribution to society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 90 to 91 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained eamings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group,
the liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business
cycle of the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 94 and Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
46 Annual Report 2025

@S

ARARAEEAZBRAEHFRBHREA
BRI FE33 ©

iz B BR

KN B EEER2018F 128 #l 5T I B R
((BREHEK]) BUHARAATEHARARES
& N5 R BB e

REBEXNKRER EFEEZE (AT EE)
AEENERRBEHMBHERE AR2FAEE
BEMBRANKBERNEADIKERE A
SERERE BEELAER BARIER
RAKRERE AEENRBHESHKR B
BEENR AEEEBOMERS  HREA
B UARE AR R XK HRAEMAM A
EAFENEMANESINERRURESSE
AERSEENEAEMABRE -

A2 BK A BB TR /R 8 ST E A EDE B R
Bl BRAFREENRARRMA - EEFH
TR EBREBE A TRESEEME
ERRERNEAFESEORS

fi& f

REBRARABDNRBOBFEFEANZHE 2 ED
DRERBUE AR AESETH R MEF
A MR LI -



DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2025 are
set out in Note 39 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 198 to 199.

INTEREST BEARING BORROWING

The group had approximately HK$7.1 million interest bearing borrowing
outstanding as at 30 June 2025.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not made charitable donations during the year ended 30
June 2025 (2024: HK$10,500).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out
in Notes 16 to 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Resigned on 27 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed
by the Board at any time either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change
in the Directors’ information required to be disclosed during the year under
review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme since 23 December
2024. The Share Award Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. It is established to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible participants.

The Eligible Participants under the Share Award Scheme includes (a) the
directors and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
any other person who is granted Awards as an inducement to enter into an
employment or engagement contract with any of these companies; (b) the
directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company (i.e. the Related Entity Participants);
and (c) Service Provider who falls under the category or categories or who
may meet the eligibility criteria as specified under the Share Award Scheme.

Details of the Share Award Scheme of the Company are set out in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, no Shares have been awarded, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption. The selected
eligible participants are not required to provide consideration for being
granted the award shares under the Share Award Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Other than the share option schemes and share award scheme described
in Note 34 and Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen
years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:
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Ms. Wong Man Winny Interest of controlled corporation 110,589,750(L) (Note 1) (M &E1) 11.23%
=T R E =
Mr. Liu Ka Lim Beneficial owner 498,000(L) 0.05%
BREitE EnEEA
Notes: B 7
1. As at 30 June 2025, these shares of the Company were held by Worldwide Peace 1. MR2025F6 A30H  AARZERMBEARARRRE

Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Wong Man Winny, the current chairperson and
executive director of the Company. Ms. Wong Man Winny is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company, representing approximately 11.23% of the issued share
of the Company held by Worldwide Peace Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2025 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2025, the following person (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in securities” above) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

BRECETRELETRAUE4AEZ
E

REEFERN AEBLERE EHRUE
UABETEMNTNER R 2 BER S NIFERM

BEEALXRS

REE2025F6 430 I FER » AEBEER
BERAeHERATRIBEATIZ ALTE
VETRG ZEBEEATRSZHBIHNE
A EMEAMEI7 - ZR SR IE £ A
BEBERS BRESMBHRERNEI7H
H— -

FERR

M2025F6 A30R  REZHFRBEKHE
3BEMEARRRATREZELMATE & -
THAT(EX[ESF2ESFERRAR] R
FTEBRARAIEENITBAER ZEEBRIN R
KA zB REEROFEEER KR

Approximate

percentage*
Number of of the issued
Name Capacity shares share capital
HEBRTREZ

£ 5145 K% & B B A 2
Worldwide Peace Limited Beneficial owner 110,589,750(L) (Note 1) (Ffi7E1) 11.23%

EFERRRQA BEEBEAA

Note: The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 84.65% of
the total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 52.46%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 94.43% of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted
to approximately 56.20%.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

(Continued)

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2025, the Group employed about 45 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe (2024: 41). Staff costs for the year ended 30 June
2025 were approximately HK$21.3 milion (2024: approximately HK$12.7
million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the performance, qualifications and experience of the
individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources and
Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such as
the Company’s operating results, individual capabilities, performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of
the position.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such permitted
indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force during the
year and remained in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2025, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2025 are set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant event affecting the Group occurred subsequent to 30
June 2025.
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AUDITOR % LB

Cheng & Cheng Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re- ESE &AM EHM AR AT BN ARG ERE
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. EAE LR HEEFTEEREBRET
BEARNAIZBAARZEER -

By order of the Board EEEEWm

Ms. WONG MAN WINNY TE
CHAIRPERSON EHaL

Hong Kong BB

29 September 2025 20259 A29H
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INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2025.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes if necessary.
Meetings were held throughout the year under review and where appropriate,
circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management of the Group to ensure that they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets
and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The day-
to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their responsibilities
include the implementation of decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination
and direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company
in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. The Board receives full support from senior executives to discharge
its responsibility. Prior approval must be obtained from the Board before
entering into any significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages
83 to 89 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Resigned on 27 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

One of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 40 to 43 of this report.
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BOARD (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors provide to the Group
with a wide range of expertise and experience so that independent judgement
can be exercised effectively. They have also participated in Board meetings
and general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on audit
committee, human resources and remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and scrutinized the Group’s performance and
reporting. Through their active participation, the management process of the
Company can be critically reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Director, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
is reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a new Director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairperson
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The role of Chairperson is being performed by Ms. Wong Man Winny, who
is also being the Executive Directors, and she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the Executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.
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BOARD (Continued)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfiment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are appointed without a specific term but subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management
from time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least
3 days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee,
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set
out below:

Executive Directors
HTES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
R (EE)

Non-executive Directors
FHTES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
BREREE

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica
st

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIFHGTES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
RNERE

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei
RaH%HRE

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand
BEXEE

11/11
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6/11
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2/2
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2/2
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company
secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also ensures that proper
Board procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate, they
may retain the service of independent professional advisers at the Group’s
expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead
of passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 23 December 2024. Details of major items discussed in those
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 29
November 2024.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as
to ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to
all Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2025 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:
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Type of Training (Notes)

Name of Directors EEHR FE A2 B (P =)

Executive Directors BITES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) BEHL LT (EE) A B

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE A B

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai BB E A A B

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei bR 5% kaE A B

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand mANEAE A B
Notes: B 5
A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A HEMTE BNe 3R UmiE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general  B: BEAHALCER I REKSFEAZHE &

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by
such Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was further revised and adopted
on 29 December 2022. As at 30 June 2025, the human resources and
remuneration committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik Hei and
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee also reviewed matters relating
to share schemes under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. This committee
consults with the Chairperson and/or other Board members on its proposals
and recommendations and has access to professional advice, if necessary.
The human resources and remuneration committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 July 2025. As at 30 June
2025, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik Hei and
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, assist the Board in maintaining
a board skill matrix, making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board, selecting
individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson and other executive
Director, supporting the Company’s regular evaluation of the Board’s
performance; and to review and assess each Director’s time commitment
and contribution to the Board as well as the Director’s ability to discharge his
or her responsibilities effectively. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held one meeting
to review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms
of reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2025, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand. No member of the audit committee is
a former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years
from the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in
the auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2024 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2024. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that CHENG & CHENG
LIMITED, be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings.
In line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval,
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2025, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr.
Liu Ka Lim (Chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely,
Mr. Leung Man Fai and one executive staff of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meeting to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote sufficient
effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Policies and
Mechanism

The Board recognizes that a comprehensive corporate governance
management structure is crucial in helping the Company to implement its
strategies and policies effectively and consistently throughout the Group,
and safeguard the long-term interests of its shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company has established the following policies and mechanism and has
continuously reviewed them to ensure that the Group meets the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations:

o Board Diversity Policy

. Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available to the Board
o Anti-corruption Policy

° Whistle-blowing Policy

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach
to achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that
diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board is satisfied with board diversity. The current board gender diversity
has fulfilled the principle set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates
and their contribution to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under
diversified perspectives is set out as follows:
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Workforce Diversity

As at 30 June 2025, the ratio of male and female in the workforce by gender
and age of the Group (including executive directors and senior management)
is 60% and 40% respectively as set out above. The goal of a workplace
diversity is to create the right environment where people feel comfortable
working together with both collaboratively and effectively in an environment
without judgment; all staff is able to reach their full potential while working
as a team. The Group considers that the current composition of workforce
diversity objective (gender ratio, plan or measurable objectives for gender
diversity, factors or circumstances affecting the gender ratio, etc) had been
achieved at acceptable level.
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Independent Views of the Board

In compliance with Code B.1.4 of the CG Code, on 29 December 2022,
the Company has established and adopted the mechanisms that was to
ensure a strong independent element, and independent views and input
are available to the board of directors of the Company (the “Mechanisms”).
The Mechanisms cover composition of the board and board committees;
independence assessment; compensation, Board’s decision making; and
review of the policy implementation. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on
29 September 2025, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanisms and considered that the Group was satisfied
with the independence status of all the independent non-executive directors.

Company Secretary

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. NG Kwok Leung, the
Company Secretary, has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the Year.

Anti-corruption Policy

On 29 December 2022, the Company adopted an anti-corruption policy
(“Anti-Corruption Policy”), this policy is to outline the Company’s
expectations and requirements on prevention, detection, reporting and
investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and other similar irregularities;
and to provide information and guidance on recognizing and dealing with
bribery and corruption, the Company has established its group-wise anti-
corruption policy that complies with Code D.2.7 of the CG Code.

Under the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Group has established the Code
of Business Conducts, and has put in place internal control mechanism
to prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other
misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company has established a
whistle-blowing policy which forms an important part of its effective risk
management and internal control systems.
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Whistle-blowing Policy (continued)

Under the whistle-blowing policy, the Group allows stakeholders to report
suspicious negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct to the Group
anonymously. All reported cases are investigated confidentially to ensure the
whistle-blower is protected.

The whistle-blowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$1,300,000 (2024: approximately
HK$1,300,000) and there was no non-audit services provided by the
Company’s external auditor (2024: approximately HK$690,000, mainly
on very substantial and connected acquisition, internal control review, risk
management advisory and ESG report related matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who
have confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2025, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
to provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy on 29
December 2022 with the objective of providing the Shareholders with equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to
engage actively with the Company.

The Shareholders’ communication policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness during the Reporting Period. The Company has evaluated
the various channels of communication with shareholders and their
implementation and believes that the Shareholders’ communication policy
remains appropriate and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board.

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2024
(the “2024 Annual General Meeting”) to ensure that shareholders’ views
were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the 2024 Annual General
Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty-one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2024 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer agent, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a
poll on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Bye-laws. An
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the relevant provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with
his/her/its detailed contact information at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong
Kong Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concemed at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by way
of a special resolution in a special general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in a
special general meeting other than by way of a special resolution of the
Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual
and interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of company secretary at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition a special general
meeting, any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred (100) shareholders, shall (unless
otherwise resolved by the Company) at their own expense have the right by
written requisition:

(@)  torequire notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of that meeting; and/or

(o)  to request for circulation to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting any statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by the requisitionists in a single
document or in separate copies prepared for the purpose which between
them contain signatures of all requisitionists. A copy of the signed requisition,
accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses, must be deposited at the Company’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@ in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less
than six (6) weeks before the annual general meeting unless an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the copy
has been deposited, in which case the copy shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited though not deposited within the time required;
and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one (1) week before
the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements,
and circulars. The Company’s website (www.champion.hk) provides a
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, the Articles of Association of the Company
were amended for the purposes of updating and bringing the Articles of
Association in line with the Listing Rules requirements in relation to electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers to their securities
holders after approval in the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

An up to date version of the Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually. Management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring such systems,
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system. Such review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial
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level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversightof BEE ZEBEEEm EFEHEE 2B LARETT

risk mitigation efforts.
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“Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level
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The Board EE g
Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and
internal control systems;
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Sets strategic objectives;
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Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control
systems;
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Audit Committee BERXZEE S
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of
the underlying risk management and internal control systems.
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Operational Level & & 8 M
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business;
and
SR BRI - FF AR E E R &
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business
operations and functional areas.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in
our strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations.
The Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks
that are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners
are required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board
and Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COS0”) framework for internal controls and has five components, namely
Control Environment; Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of
the plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches
our ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous Improvement
(Continued)

Due to the changing business environment and development, including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day-to-day
basis by operating units.

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness, and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The Executive Director is the designated person who speaks on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts, or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional
staff with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to assist in the 1A
function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by
conducting interviews, walkthroughs, and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan,
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via the Audit
Committee afterwards.

review of the risk management and internal control systems is
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a few risks and uncertainties. The following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

Business Risk

Technology Business — Renewable Energy

As a long-term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the Group is
subject to Hong Kong government supportive policies, climate, economy and
other execution risks. Although the Covid-19 pandemic has not subsided, the
Group is confident that it would accomplish the delayed projects in an orderly
manner.

Technology Business — Smart City Solution Business

Loss of market share and uncertainties are risks we must face with great
changes taking place for each passing day in the internet and technology
world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in technology
innovation to broaden its market share and keep investing in products
research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The sales, purchases and expenses incurred in our renewable energy and
smart city solution business are mainly denominated in Hong Kong, US Dollar
and Renminbi. Since Hong Kong Dollar remains pegged to US Dollar, the
Group does not foresee a substantial exposure in this area, and will closely
monitor the trend of Renminbi to see if any action is required.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the
risk management and internal control system were effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During year the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification, and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were adequate.
Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant
in strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

S5 35 B3 67 FH AT A IR F)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHAMPION TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Champion
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 90 to 197, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2025, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group has incurred losses for a number of years. The
Group has incurred a net loss of HK$50,309,000 for the year ended 30 June
2025. These events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. In addition to the matters described in the material
uncertainty related to going concern section of our report, we have
determined the matter below to be the key audit matter to be communicated
in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMETERRNAEERARERSHE

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment. o
BMEEREERNBRESNSBREFFTE DRZMREY

ANV BRRELABESEN MABEBBANES I RES

T2 E 8 2 # AT Ak 2 - .

As disclosed in the note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted to e
HK$115,526,000 as at 30 June 2025. The Group has recognised
expected credit losses amounted to HK$39,073,000 for the year e
ended 30 June 2025.

RIRE OF 0 15 Mok I TE 2380 2 82 - &l 1E £20259F6 H30H -
R (BRI ER) 888 /511155260007 c SLEE# o
F2025F6 A0E W HFENCBRRERAFEEBERBE
39,073,0007T °
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
recoverability of trade receivables included:
HATER A e W AR AR AT B W T E AT SRR AR R B AR

Obtaining an understanding of how the expected
credit losses on trade receivables are estimated by
the management;
THRERENMNAEEERERNESRER
B8

Evaluating the independent external valuer’'s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
BRI AN EEE ) EENE
Bt

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions used in
expected credit losses estimation;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FEAREEZEE @

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HRERER EMETERRNMEERARERER

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability e
of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile of different
customers, ageing of the trade receivables, historical settlement e
records, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances.
EREEETHTAREEFROAIBKERREEFENTED o
M-RENEEEFETREPHERMRA  BIRERNFER
A BEEELE URBHNRGEHREN E RS EN
BEE o U

Management also considered forward looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances e
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment. The management engaged an independent external
valuer to assist in estimation of expected credit losses of trade
receivables. °
ERENERTARFERFERBRGEHRERNINAELE
oA EEREFERNTEREREE -EREEST —
18 <7 89 HMNER YAk B 175 B 14 B FE W AR SR eV TR BR(E A &S 18 o J

We focused on this area due to the management’s estimation e
of impairment on trade receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management

judgements and estimates. °
FMEHBINLEE AAERERERAAGHRERELY
EWEFOREG IR TEENERBABMGE - .

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the supporting documents and
the credit term granted;

LA 7 2R S B BR R F e D AT - WA
PR S 3% S R A5 B IR

Reviewing the accuracy of management’s
judgement by comparing against historical
management’s actual write offs;
MAENEEEEERMRNE S BIRET
B REEEEHEBOERL

Discussing with the management on their
assessment based on the business relationship
with customers in relation to overdue trade
receivables with/without settlement;

HEIEE N A RBIRE P E TR 8
JEMEBR R  BREEEEHE

Examining on sampling basis, evidence related to
post year end cash receipt; and
UHESTARERFRBE W REBNE
B M

Engaging another independent valuer to review the
valuation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
86 Annual Report 2025

HiE R @

REMEZEAMEREME  HRMANEKE
REUBEBHEMER EtMEEEMENESE
HAVBRRIXBMNEEZEETETNE
HEEERTH AREUFHFEERER
BR At o

WERMEREETHNITERSEMLER E
REAERRL BMNEAREEBEE- 5L
g BFPREEMERSE -

ESRERABRASYBR
REAERENEME

z

RAEERABERBEEEGIMASHMD
BAEMBRESEARE L DB GRDHH
BRE REEEMATHERRBENNEGS
MBHRE RARESFETHRUGEEMHK
BEBUBENBERANEE WEZXEFHE
MBEBRONBRIEFEHRNRFHHERM
BHMERHERRAL

EREFEEVBHRERET  RAEFA8 R
HEEFELLENR N IREEFELLE
BREMNFHEER) BRERRAEEHRKEE
BRYFILEE AR 2L ERMER
ATME BRARAUSEKLERER
B EEHE -

ERBERREBRENYHRMERERF -

8]



18 M % SR ¥

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

88
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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GAEREmkEMEE KSR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

E£20259 6 A30H I 4 E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 FTERx T
Revenue W = 6 57,311 208,612
Cost of sales ik (53,073) (197,212)
Gross profit EF 4,238 11,400
Other income, gains and losses Hag A - W &g 7 4,792 2,246
General and administrative expenses —MRITHZ (37,565) (22,692)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories REFERABERE (162) —
Written off of property, plant and equipment ME - RERZEZTHE - (450)
Gain on deregistration of companies XNl & 11 3,413 —
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets CREEEZRERBRE = (1,890)
Impairment losses recognised for trade and HEWE S REMERRER
other receivables HEEE (39,073) (10,410)
Impairment losses on loan receivables EREFTUREERE (1,547) (58)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEM B AR 2 W 12 - 32,136
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair BEAFEFABRCEREE
value through profit or loss NEERE(BB) 19,417 (19,453)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets at fair ~ H & F @B XA FEE
value through profit or loss CREENKE (BB 202 32)
Fair value loss on investment properties BREMEZ NFEERE 19 (4,437) (3,533)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (435) (40)
Written off on other receivables JE LS EL Ath BR S0 88 (288) —
Loss before taxation BRI ATE 18 9 (51,445) (12,776)
Income tax credit FIeiiE % 13 1,136 554
Loss for the year KFEEEIE (50,309) (12,222)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): Hit2@EWBA(ZH) :
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to HEigrEMoERER
profit or loss: BH:
Exchange difference arising on translation of INETFRERES 2
foreign operations P& H =5 658 (692)
Reclassification adjustment on translation & B B A BB AT AR BR
reserve released on disposal EHFEE2EFDE
of a subsidiary EEES - (1,814)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) KEEHMEEBRA(XH)
for the year 658 (2,500)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEELHASE (49,651) (14,728)

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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mEEnRkAEtEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

# £202596 A30H |L 4 E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 2024 F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5% FTEx TR
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: RABBEEANEGEREE
(B1#8),HF
— Owners of the Company —ARREEAA (44,226) (12,420)
— Non-controlling interests —IEE R R R A = (6,083) 198
(50,309) (12,222)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the E{EAFEE2H (X H),/
year attributable to: W%
Owners of the Company VNSRS N (43,508) (14,758)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AR R A (6,143) 30
(49,651) (14,728)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted EARARKEE HK(5.03) cents HK(1.82) cents
15 il AL

The notes on pages 97 to 197 form part of these consolidated financial 597 =197 B AT 2 Ml s AL T4 A MK RE
statements. ZHKE S o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202546 430 H 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FB T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% WEREE 16 11,813 7,045
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 2,264 -
Investment properties WEWE 19 30,463 34,262
Interest in an associate RN o s 20 - 2
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment ~ #1% - B MR EEMR 23 - 1,074
Loan receivables fE W E R 24 985 —
Other receivables JiE Uk i BR 50 23 104 —
45,629 42,383
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 22 6,894 7,407
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 I H B8R 5K 23 153,237 180,671
Loan receivables JE U B 3R 24 47,993 6,624
Financial assets at fair value through profit or BRAFEFABERZ
loss SHMEE 21 36,507 10,421
Tax recoverable BRI e - 184
Cash and cash equivalents HekBReEH 25 11,920 14,699
256,551 220,006
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade and other payables FERT B 5 I H B8R 5K 26 170,785 151,245
Contract liabilities aHaE 27 648 847
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 1,455 969
Customers deposits BRE® 586 3,895
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 7,123 —
Tax payables JRE A~ B K 1,019 864
181,616 157,820
Net current assets RBEEFRE 74,935 62,186
Total assets less current liabilities EEHRERRBERE 120,564 104,569
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202546 430 H 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FER FAT
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 1,792 925
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBEEE 32 6,382 7,175
Promissory note payable JE R E B 30 3,110 —
11,284 8,100
Net assets EEFE 109,280 96,469
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital f& A 33(b) 9,847 6,838
Reserves G 33(c) 105,576 89,656
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAREE AEGEER 115,423 96,494
Non-controlling interests FEEAR IR M A (6,143) (25)
Total equity EREE 109,280 96,469

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 197 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

WONG MAN WINNY

Chairperson

The notes on pages 97 to 197 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

FORITEFECGEYERREHRESTS
R2025F 9 A20 B iz R F|ZE - WA T 5
BERREE:

LIU KA LIM
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

H ZE2025%6 A30H L4 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

At1July 2023 #2023%7A1A 27,353 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,093,039 8,358 (663) (4,597,505) 111,252 17,246 128,498
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - (12420) (12,420) 198 (12,222)
Exchange difference arising RENEHRERELL

on translation of foreign EXER

operations - - - - - - (524) - (524) (168) (692

Reclassffcation adjustmenton &M BAAIEMERERLE
translation reserve released BIENAEAR

on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - (1,814) - (1,814) - (1,814)
Total comprehensiveincome/ R 2E WA/ (BX) 8%

(expense) for the year - - - - - - (2,338 (12,420) (14,758) 30 (14,728)
Capital redction TRAH (20515 20515 - - - - - - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - - - - (17,301) (17,301)
At 30 June 2024 and 20246 R30AK

1 July 2024 2024%7A1A 6,838 2,235,132 50 1,366,003 1,093,039 8,358* (3,001)* (4,609,925)* 96,494 (25) 96,469
Loss for the year FEFE - - - - - - - (44,226) (44,226) (6,083) (50,309)
Exchange difference arisingon ~ BELJNEHAE

translation of MEECERZR

foreign operations - - - - - - 8 - 718 (60) 658

Total comprehensive income/ ¥ 2E M/

(expense) for the year (F%) g - - - - - - 718 (44,226) (43,508) (6,143) (49,651)
Issuance of new sharesupon ~ BREIR B TR R &

placing of shares less RARK

transaction cost 3,009 59,428 - - - - - - 62,437 - 62,437

Release of non-controling HEHNBARRMRBER
interests upon deregistration Bl 2 B HEEE
of a subsidiary - - - - - = = = - 2% %

At 30 June 2025 #202556A308 9847 2,204,560 50*  1,366,003" 1,093,039 8,368" (2,289" (4,654,151)" 115,423 (6,143) 109,280

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated surplus of approximately — * hERFEREFERGEMBRRARZEERHBH
HK$105,576,000 (2024: HK$89,656,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 105,576,0007% 7T (2024 £ : 89,656,000/8 7T) °
position.

The notes on pages 97 to 197 form part of these consolidated financial 97 E197 B H Z M T B FHR AT HRE
statements. ZHRKER S o
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RERERIR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHER FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZBEER
Loss before taxation REBBEREEB 2
W B Al B 18 (51,445) (12,776)
Adjustments for: Fok
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BiE R RE 2T E 1,977 132
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZHE 560 82
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets BEAFEFAEBRZZ
at fair value through profit or loss eMEEZATE
(=), B8 (19,417) 19,453
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRB AR 2 W= 12 - (32,136)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of financial assets at HERAFEFABRZEZ
fair value through profit or loss cmEE W) BE (202) 32
Fair value loss on investment properties wEWMEZATEERE 19 4,437 3,533
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FREEE CRERRE 18 - 1,890
Impairment losses recognised for trade PEWE 5 & H M BR 5K
and other receivables Frigad 2 BB k18 39,073 10,410
Impairment losses on loan receivables B E FOR E K518 1,547 58
Impairment losses recognised for inventories FEREEBE 162 —
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEEE - W R E - 450
Finance costs B 7 P AR 435 40
Interest income F B A 7 (1,674) (755)
Written off of other receivables H e U AR RO 8 288 -
Written off of other payables H At JIE A FOF 88 (516) —
Loss on disposal of interest in an associate HEME AR EE 2 -
Written off of amount due to a previous R BT E B R R
director (2,000) —
Gain on deregistration of companies FiHEAR 2 WE (3,413) —
(30,186) (9,587)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFEZRL/(Em) 350 (72)
Decrease in finance lease receivable JE U b & A SRIR 2R A - 1,205
Increase in trade and other receivables FEUE 5 I H b BR 5K 2 38 0 (9,488) (152,148)
Increase in trade and other payables BB S REAMBRK ZE M 19,082 99,709
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHEEZ R N (199) 130
Decrease in customers deposits XEPERE& 2D 172 —
Net cash used in operation ¥R Re R (20,269) (60,763)
Income tax refund/(paid) BE/ (BB 525 (880)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBEHME L
R&F5 (19,744) (61,643)
BEREEEFRAR
—z-agsn 95



RERERI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTHER FAT
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHZ2HER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment RNEVE WEKEE (5,481) (3,150)
Purchases of financial assets BESREE (19,303) —
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HESMEEMBSHIA 12,836 4,317
Interest received from loan receivables B E 3R B 228 406
Interest received 24 F & 14 442
Loan to third parties ETE=MEX (48,160) (6,807)
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment  TE ¥ % - BiE & &1 - (1,077)
Repayment from third party REBZTHWETER 6,000 2,584
Net cash inflow from HE—HEHBRARIRAZ
disposal of a subsidiary ReFRE 12 - 45,897
Net cash outflow for deregistration of companies & 52 77 H 2 3R & /F 58 (4) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from "EES (FTFE) 52
investing activities e FE (53,870) 42,612
Cash flows from financing activities RMETB2REER
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEER 25(b) (1,471) (918)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBBESHAE 25(b) (175) (40)
Interest paid for bank borrowings RITEERNF & (126) —
Interest paid for promissory note payable ERELERENFE (24) —
Repayment to a director BEREEEZBN 25(b) = (2,000)
Advance from third party REBEZFBR 25(b) — 27,998
Advance from promissory note REBETERLEE 30 5,000 —
Proceed from bank borrowing RITIE KT ERIE 25(b) 7,054 —
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITREMRE 2 A 62,437 —
Repayment of promissory note BEALERE 30 (2,000) —
Net cash generated from financing activities BEEE B 2R L FE 70,695 25,040
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RBehBEEEBZRD)/
cash equivalents 1 F R (2,919) 6,009
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUHeMReER
of the year 14,699 9,150
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes EXgyH s 140 (460)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear F &R SRR S ZH 25 11,920 14,699

The notes on pages 97 to 197 form part of these consolidated financial 97 E197 BEFE 2 M st B S5 6 I HRK
statements. ZHERKE S ©
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

1.

GENERAL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was originally
incorporated in the Cayman Islands but subsequently re-domiciled
to Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HKS$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in notes 40 and
20 respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 July 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

1.
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e MR RME
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2.

98

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability”

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Volume 11°

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and  Amendments to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future, except for HKFRS 18 which will impact the presentation of profit
or loss. The Group is still in the process of evaluating the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 18.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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e M RRE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of
the Group in light of the fact that the Group has incurred losses for a
number of years and a net loss of HK$50,309,000 for the year ended
30 June 2025.

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, to provide liquidity
and cashflows and to sustain the Group’s as a going concern, the
management has taken and/or will take the following measures:

1. The Group is taking measures to tighten cost controls over
various operating costs and expenses with the aim to attain
profitable and positive cash flow operation;

2. The Group has negotiated and agreed with substantial
shareholders of the Company to provide financial support;

S8 The Group is confident that the new business stated in MD&A
section about Oxyhydrogen Machine which was launched on
27 September 2025 and other projects will be launched soon to
generate strong positive cash flow;

4. The Group has negotiated with different trade debtors and
agreed with them for the repayment schedule; and

B The Group has negotiated with different trade creditor and
obtained their understanding on the repayment situation.

3.
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHERw

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

In addition, the directors of the Company considered that:

(i) The PRC subsidiaries are self-sustained and the listed company
has the legal capacity to prevent being adversely effected by any
of its subsidiaries should the occasion arise. Management would
monitor the financial structure and operations of all subsidiaries
and would take appropriate actions to ensure the functionality
of each of them without impairing the financial strength of the
Company; and

(i) The success of Company’s past 7 years fundraising exercises
preserved that the Company has strength fundraising capability
and will raise funds whenever necessary.

The directors of the Company further considered that the Group will
have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirement. Moreover, the directors of the Company
also considered that the company’s fund-raising capability are strong
and the directors of the Company is confident that sufficient funds
can be raised if the Company needs. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company considered that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group is able to generate/receive sufficient cash inflows from its
operations and financing to maintain it as a going concern, including
but not limited to, whether it is able to successfully implement its
various plans and measures as described above; whether it will
continue to have sufficient external financing; and its operating cash
flows are dependent on changing industry/market conditions. Should
the Group be unable to maintain as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss that are measured at fair value. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16 Leases (‘HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories (“HKAS 2”) or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (‘HKAS 36”).
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3.

102

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHERw

104

|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

—  fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) for other investments. Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025

HEEERARSRRE @

BE
ARBATIEH 2 ERARE D FBIUT
sHEEEY—

- BEARL HMABSRERMELD
BHRER(ERREE KA SN
) REZHMEBRAZERF X
EEHE o

— RBAOFEFABREAFETA
BR)HEMEKE ZREZRF
EEEH(BEME)NIBEAER -

Wy 55 52

WaHRBERTPITLZANPITAZK
Bt UTERAKF=ZTURZE
B AKER(RA) T ED B (I E
RRA - NEREROEEMBEERSK
RBEZEFEIBBEEET S -

BHEERREXBARFEE MRS (K
—HERKRE) AAXBAERZ — X7

¥ & dn 2k RS o



e M RRE

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products, gasoil and sale of renewable energy products and smart city
solution related software) are based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and the Group excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. The Group satisfies a performance obligation
when it transfers control of the cultural products, gasoil, sale of
renewable energy products and smart city solutions related software to
a customer. Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point in
time.

For services of establishing intelligent management system for
construction site included in smart city solutions segment. The Group
considers the performance obligation is satisfied over time as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs.
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3.

106

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The revenue from design, sales and installation of renewable energy
products and solutions is recognised over time as the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs.

The revenue from provision of installation and development of Data
Center service is recognised over time as the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs.

Input method is used to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer. When the
Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue in the gross amount
of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
the specified good or service transferred. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

Indicators taken into account by management of the Group to
determine whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent include,
but are not limited to, the following:

(@  whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or service;

(b)  whether the entity has inventory risk before the specified good
or service has been transferred to a customer or after transfer of
control to the customer (for example, if the customer has a right
of return); and

(c)  whether the entity has discretion in establishing the price for the
specified good or service, indicating that the entity has the ability
to direct the use of that good or service and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

10%-50%
20%-33%%
Motor vehicles 25%

Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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108

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset
(or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. \Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
on the following item:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and loan
receivables).

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for receivables are discounted using
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)
ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL on the basis that there are no significant
financing components. ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using internal credit rating based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL.
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instruments external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.
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# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
financial instruments credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:
— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

—  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. B BERm®

118

INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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3.

120

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.
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3.

122

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Retirement benefits to employees in the Mainland are provided through
a defined contribution plan. The Group is required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

mEMBRRNE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFHHEw
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Related party (Continued) BE AL @)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members ERIA T ZFFRKEK B I8 £ IR
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in ERXFFAEHZATHR T ENE
their dealings with the entity. ZANLTHEZHBKE -
SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND 4. EXRHAERMEFAEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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4. EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 EERIFE@

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (@ ERAEERFHEZE

the Group’s accounting policies =g A
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, REATEESFBER BEE

management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Group has reviewed its investment property portfolios
and concluded:

In respect of the Group’s investment properties located in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the management has
determined that these properties are held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time and consequently the sale presumption in HKAS 12 is
rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group continues
to measure the deferred tax relating to these properties using
the tax rate that would apply as a result of recovering their value
through use.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA' NTY (Continued)

(@) Critical accounting judgements in applying

126

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
gasoil, and related software including renewable energy systems,
smart city solution and cultural products. The Group carefully
evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in contract and/
or sale order with a customer and assesses when the control of
the goods has been transferred to the customer. In addition, the
Group also assessed whether the Group is acting as the principal
(i.e. whether the Group has the primary responsibility for the sale
of goods, bears the risks of loss and obsolescence, and also has
full discretion over the goods).

Lease

The Group applies reasonable judgement to determine the
lease term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised. The Group considered the
exercise of the renewal option is uncertain, therefore, the lease
term does not include the renewal option.
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4. EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 EERIFE@

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) fh5FFHEE M 2 RIR

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
Investment properties located in Mainland as at 30 June 2025
are stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by
Stirling Appraisals Limited (2024: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by
using direct comparison method.

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market.

In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market condition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

128

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of investment properties as at 30 June
2025 and 2024 were HK$30,463,000 and HK$34,262,000
respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used
for fair value measurement, are stated in note 38.

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables and loan receivables)
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses internal credit rating to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables and loan receivable based on ECL. The Group
assesses the ECL for each of the other receivables and loan
receivables individually based on the financial position and the
economic environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in note 5.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature.
[t could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$6,894,000 (2024: HK$7,407,000).

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ol

BEXHERAETTAEE
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(b) fHFTFEEM 2 RKIR @
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MR2025F6A30H  REEFE ~

R M 18 /46,894,000 7T (2024 4F :
7,407,000 7T) °

TMTH

Categories of financial instruments @I AEEH

2025 2024
20254 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Financial assets TRWMEE
At fair value through profit or loss BAFEFAER 36,507 10,421
At amortised cost bieg: PN 212,861 200,202
249,368 210,623

Financial liabilities EtWMEE
At amortised cost big; K1) N 181,604 155,140
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,247 1,894
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5.

130

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables,
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, bank borrowings and promissory note payable. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

loan

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and other
receivables and loan receivables, the management of the Group
will only allow customers with good credit history to pay on credit.
the management reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account future discounted cash flows, to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In addition,

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At 30 June 2025, 63.60%
(2024: 73.583%) of the total gross trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and 98.27% (2024: 94.78%) of the
total gross trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of the acceptance
procedures for new contracts. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The Group generally requires customers to
settle progress and final billings in accordance with contracted terms.
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 days (2024: 30 days)
from the date of progress certificate or the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade
receivables during the year are as follows:

ol

E@MITEw
BEEABREEEERBE®

FER K &)
BREATERFTENENERF—I
Do ELTHEERETFLBEIHMK
MELSMEAMMEREN LEEIT
FHERBENNUNKEARPEEMENK
BREBENEN AEEB—REXE
FREWBKRINTPHREKRER &
WESER—RREEERE A B
= H HI#E 5130 (20244 : 308 ) A F 5 -
AEE—HIEREFIKEEER -

4 8 M 3 0 AOR (B S 0 B B 1
RN

Non-credit

impaired

FEERE

HK$’000

FAT

At 1 July 2023 R2023%F7A1H 346
Impairment losses B EE 7,201

Exchange difference fEH =58 (18)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 202496 A30H &2024%7 A1H 7,529
Impairment losses BB E B 39,073
Exchange difference X ZE5 533
At 30 June 2025 R2025% 6 A30H 47,135

The trade receivables are mainly related to state-owned enterprises.
The management had negotiated with those state-owned enterprises
for the settlement terms and the management considered their
operation environment had not significant changes. Therefore,
management considered the trade receivables past due over 1 year
were not credit impaired.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly due to:

5. €@ T B

BEEMREEEEREE @

EHER @
BKRESERBREEFENESH T
22

2025 2024
2025%F 2024 F
Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
EHAHREE 2HEHEE
BEE MR ) BEE M CR D)
Non credit- Credit Non credit- Credit
impaired impaired impaired impaired
FEERE EEHE FEERE EERE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TERT T T T T
Settlement in full of trade 2 EHUWEER EE &
debtors with a gross 742,000/ 7T 2 L HA
carrying amount of HBE1FEMEKE
HK$742,000 that were 5 BR 3k (2024 4F :
over 1 year past due. 302,000 7T 2 1 Hi
(2024: HK$302,000 #1800 H)
over 180 days past due) (742) — (802) —
Origination of trade LA E R B
receivables net of those 1F R ENE 5 8R
settled, as well as FONBRBE % /% &
increase in days past 1) (2024 F :
due over 1 year (2024: H)
up to 90 days) 39,815 — 7,503 —

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
impairment loss of HK$NIl for other receivables (2024: HK$3,209,000)
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2025. The
management of the Group considers the probability of default based
on the financial position of the debtors and the economic environment
of the debtors operate.

The management of the Group considers that credit risk for other
receivables which are not credit-impaired is low and credit risk for those
are credit-impaired is high.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of other
receivables during the year are as follows:
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€M IAm
BEEMREEEEREE @

EE R

&)

AEZREEMBEFBEERFNESF

SLAR ¢

At 1 July 2023 HR2023%F7A1H 2,917 560 3,477
Impairment losses BB R 3,769 (560) 3,209
Exchange difference B =% (10) — (10)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 1202446 A30H &2024F7 81 H 6,676 — 6,676
Impairment losses B EE - - -
Exchange difference IE X Z5 75 - 75
At 30 June 2025 14 20254F6 A30 B 6,751 - 6,751
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are mainly due to:

2025
2025 F
Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL
2HAENEE
BEE M Cr )

Non credit-
impaired
FEERE
HK$’000
FTERT

5. €@ T B
BEEMREEEEREE @

SRR R (#)
EREMEIRERENEDEER
R :

Credit
impaired
FERE
HK$’000
T

Settlement in full of other 2 UWEEREE &
debtors with a gross TR T2 B
carrying amount of Nil B180 A #Y fE Uk &
that were over 180 o BR 3 (2024 4F -
days past due 560,000)
(2024 560,000) =

Origination of new other ¥/ % i1 H K 8132
receivables net of those 180 B ) & Ut E 1tb
settled, as well as ERNBREEE
increase in days past 1)
due up to 180 days =

= (5660) —

= — 3,769
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @R T Ew
Financial risk management objectives and MHEREREBEZERBE®
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FEE Rk E#E
As at 30 June 2025, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan R202566 H30H - AEBEAX EWE
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of FHEERR AEEEEEREEX
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors A FHE R A B B 75 AR 5 DA R 18 KA K
and the economic environment the borrowers operate. Therefore, B EIRIBRE BEQK ] R -
provision of expected credit loss of HK$1,547,000 (2024: provision of It ERERERNBEREEEERE
expected credit loss HK$58,000) on loan receivables has been made. 1,547,000 7T (2024 4F : 58,0007 7T) ©
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan AEBERKERBEBEEGNEFGHER
receivables during the year are as follows: B
Non-Credit impaired
FERE
HK$'000
T T
At 1 July 2023 M2023F7A1H 116
Impairment losses VERIEY SR 58
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 F 202446 A 308 %2024 7 518 174
Impairment losses BB E B 1,547
Exchange difference e 5 ZERE 13
At 30 June 2025 7202546 330 H 1,734

Other than concentration of credit risk on the largest customer and
liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T A
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEBEERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER B @&
Changes in the loss allowance for loan receivables are mainly due to: EUWEMERRERENEHETER
MR :

2025
2025 F
Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL
2HAENEE
BEE M Cr )

Non credit- Credit
impaired impaired
FEERE FERE
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET THET

Origination of new loan 1% f& Wt & 5k
receivable 1,547 — 58 —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Groups operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Groups remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that the interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

ol

@I Bwm
BEEMREEEEREE @

RENE € & b
PRBECRREEMS  ARBEEE
knRehReEREEEERR
ERZKFE MESAEEEBECRY
BMERERRBAGTRZIE - BEHEE
ERBRECRBRALREREETER
el

WA EEEGR  TRANAEEZ
ERMBEIRNBRENFHR - FIRDER
SEZERARERERZERBERRE
RRESRIN - HETESRAEZ
MU EEER ARER - FIK
BREMNBRAZZEAER -

IS EFEZMNETIRERE M T
BRZMEGHEERBEANENTREE -

Effective  Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2025
2025
—FAR KRR 6A30H
BRA=E BRER —-ZE-F Z—ZFIF ReREHE #Y BR [ B
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BOL THET THET THET THET THET
2025 20254
Financial liabilities R # &M ATEN
at amortised cHEeE
cost
Trade and other ENE S REM
payables BR - 171,371 - - 171,371 171,371
Promissory note B A& R R
payable 6.00 - 3,360 - 3,360 3,110
Bank borrowings ~ RITEE 3.65 7,123 - - 7,123 7,123
Liabilities at REBHRATEN
amortised cost =L
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.42 1,566 639 1,278 3,483 3,247
180,060 3,999 1,278 185,337 184,851
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I Ew
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEBEERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TENE S R (E)

2024 2024
Financial liabilities R &R ANTER
at amortised tREE

cost
Trade and other ENE S REM
payables BR 3% - 155,140 - - 155,140 155,140
Liabilities at RBHERATEN
amortised cost =R
Lease liabilities HERE 4.23 1,030 944 - 1,974 1,894
156,170 944 — 157,114 157,034
The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments WEEA R BHERNFERAETERE
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes EZMEMGTAER B EXBEBEIETE
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates CRHMEBEZRNEXTAZSHEESEAM
determined at the end of the reporting period. 2y -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits and bank borrowings.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to loan
receivables, lease liabilities and promissory note payable.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposit and bank balances
and bank borrowings at the end of reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming that the amount of balances outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2024: 50 basis points) increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2024: 50 basis points)
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2025 would increase or
decrease by approximately HK$24,000 (2024: increase or decrease by
approximately HK$73,000).

In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €M I Aw

140

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 21).

The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets
at FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during
the year were as follows:

BEEABREEEERBE @

IR A B A b

B A B8 Al 2 B B 48 20K 7 K2 (@ Rl
EREEEIMERRAREQFET
fe oz Bk - N B S E @R S8R
RFEFAERzEREE (MFE21) 2
PR AN 1 B A ) AR B AR AR o

AEESBERBAVFEFABGEZER
BEZLMBRARERB R LM A
BB ESHRABzMEME -

BIXARNFAREOREMNRZRZ A
EERBERBZMSRANEE AR
BERFAZES RREHBOT

30 June 2025 High/Low 1 July 2024

2025 2024 £

6A30H BE/RI& 7H1R

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index 'R - BEEEHY 24,072  24,874/16,441 17,669

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these equity investments.
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€M IAm
BEEMREEEEREE @

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

PR 7S (B 45 BB (30
TRINTEMEEMEEIRIFTIER
A AERABRBEEZBERT  HEARX
REZAFELRAEAREHK 2 &
RE - HRBREHRNVEEETE -

Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Decrease/

(increase) Increase/

Carrying in loss after (decrease)

amount of Increase/ tax and in other

financial (decrease) accumulated components

investments in price losses of equity

MREEER H 5 &%

SRRE BEiREm, RIEHER AT

REE CR2) ®WL/(Em) @i Ch2)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET THET

2025 2025

Equity securities listed EBEBEEMZ

in Hong Kong: fR A FE & - 36,507 51.29 18,725 -

(51.29) (18,725) —

2024 2024 %

Equity securities listed EEBLEMZ

in Hong Kong: N 10,421 37.63 3,921 —

(37.63) (3,921) —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €M I Aw

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Groups financial results
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of
the Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does
not engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the
Groups policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching
foreign currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the group entities foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

BEEMREEEEREE @

SMNES LB
SNERBERTEAEENBRER
HBASRZHNEEXEHER - NEH
T RWKE SRR RRITHEERTD AN
BEHE - NEE Y E Y KA SNE H P
TAE-AKEEZ -BERREZEBEHI
BURARSHEREINERR - & AH
EEHIIERRE  SRBAEH
TE-

ARRZHEMEBERRRFENINEE
CERBERAE SASEEEINE
B o

508 5 08 DA SN S 2 RS
B ER RS B2 REENT -

2025 2024

2025 2024 F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =R BE af&
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTERT FET FHET
Euro BT 5 (793) 1,941 (793)
United States dollar ETT 101 - 59 —
Renminbi AR 30 — 15 —
Hong Kong dollar BT 986 - 6,102 -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Renminbi, Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange
rate system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation
between Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered
insignificant by the directors of the Company and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities sensitivity to a 5%
(2024: 5%) increase and decrease in Euro, Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars against each group entity’s functional currency. 5% (2024:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents managements
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates a decrease in loss before taxation where
Euro, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars strengthens by 5% (2024:
5%) against each group entity’s functional currency. For a 5% (2024:
5%) weakening of Euro, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars against
each group entity’s functional currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit or loss.

ol

E@MITEw
BEEABEEEERBKE@®

S L B (48)

HRE DT
AEBERIBZAEZIIERARKS
AR BT RETT - B R EXKF
T ARAEZRR/BTRETERK
B2 ISR R AR OR - F ik 3 AR SR
E DT o

TREXRFAFTBAEETEHERIT - A
RERBTLSEBERBZINGEEE Y
B R FF KT #85% (20244 : 5%) 2 &
RXE - 5% (2024%F :5%) IV AEE B R
HREZEE A B RS INE R B AT
Az@®EELER HAREBEEYHINE
EREIBAIEE B 21 - MRE DT
ERENIINBHEZRAENEKER -
I A 5 FE [E R & B)5% (2024 F : 5%) &
EHF#EZHEEEAR - U TEERT
WL ARBRBTASEBEED
BE & B FH{E5% (20244 : 5%) b5 & £ Bk
FRAIGE TR MBI ARBRBT
HESBEEBI g E K ES% (2024
F:5%) A EHBZREBRKERREE
ZHERFE-

Euro BT
Renminbi AR
Hong Kong dollar BT

2025 2024
20254 2024 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER T T
(39) 57

2 1

49 305

In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts

of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(@) Revenue

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external
customers.

The revenue of the Group comprises the following:

6. WE ks BEH

(@ W=

WaEAEERAIARETPLEE
EmMREHERE 22 KRR ER

KA e

AEEZKHEBETIIEE :

2025 2024
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Revenue from contracts with EERBYBHMEERE155
customers within the scope of XEAHAREHERNZ
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts & & #4148 a5
with Customers
Technology — Smart City Solution BE-E2HmERE 48,749 179,878
Technology — Design and sales of £l —f& st R 5 & Al A RER
renewable energy products and EmkAR
solutions 8,562 28,734
57,311 208,612
(b) Segment information (b) 7EEH

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the chief operating decision maker, the
Group has presented the following five (2024: five) operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

e Sales of cultural —
products

includes income from trading of cultural
products

includes income from sale of business
solution including software and
hardware for construction site and

e Technology: Smart
City Solution Business

related businesses

e Technology: —
Renewable energy

includes income from design and sales
of renewable energy products and
solutions

e Tradingof gasoiland  —
related business

includes income from sales of gasoil
and income from vessel charter (shipping
business)

includes income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

e Strategic investments  —

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest
income, gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries, fair value gain or
loss on investment properties, finance costs, unallocated income
and expenses such as certain administration costs etc. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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6. W ks EEmw

(b)
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BTHAISIZMAEETELEHREK
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MEERFEISR A& E 555 W0
™ A AE (2024 4 : FAE) & & K ] 3
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o HEXLE - BRXLERE
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. akosEE @
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER m@®
Information regarding the above segments is reported below: E LS BERZFHROT :

Trading of gasoil and related
Technology business
E b5 REEEY
Sales of Trading of
cultural Smart City ~ Renewable Strategic ~ gasoiland  Shipping

products Solution energy investments others  business Consolidated
X @
HE BEHH TBE Rt REM
XILE @ BRE% BR R& WES MEXK &&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERT TET TERT TER TER

Year ended HZ2025%6830A

30 June 2025 LEE
REVENUE g
External and total revenue HNEE R B hE

Recognised atapontintime M E— B B &R - 4,095 8,007 - - - 12,102

Recognised over time R RR - 44,654 555 - - - 45,209

- 48,749 8,562 - - - 57,311

RESULTS B4
Segment result PEEE (285) (40,483) 3 7,150 (64) - (33,679)
Interest income FIEWA 1,674
Fairvalue loss oninvestment R &ME 2 AFE

properties 525! (4,437)
Finance costs BB (435)
Unallocated expenses, net FOEHAZ-F8 (14,568)
Loss before taxation BRRAES (51,445)
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

6. REksEBERH@w

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(b) DEER @

Year ended HE2024568308
30 June 2024 LEE

REVENUE I 5

External and total revenue HOMAE RBYE

Recognised at a point in

RE-BHER

time - - 28,065 — - - 28,065
Recognised over time REE IR - 179,878 669 - - - 180,547
- 179,878 28,734 - - - 208,612
RESULTS ES |
Segment result PEEE (116) (2,667) 1,363 (36,578) 261 (10) (37,747)
Interest income FEMA 755
Gain on disposal of HERBRAZ
a subsidiary U 25 32,136
Fair value loss on investment X E# ¥ 2 A F &
properties B8 (3,533)
Finance costs B IS B (40)
Unallocated expenses, net K ABHX—F58 (4,347)
Loss before taxation from REBELEEKL
continuing operations BREAER (12,776)
—
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. akosEE @
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER m@®
Information regarding the above segments is reported below: E LS BERZFHROT :

Trading of gasoil and
Technology related business
BE AV LS
Sales of Trading of
cultural ~ SmartCity  Renewable Strategic  gasoiland ~ Shipping

products Solution energy investments others business Unallocated Consolidated
R 8
HE BEEW 8% R REfM
X{Em BRE R B8R RE WE % MEXH ROE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiERL TET TiERL TiERL TEx TER TER TEL

Year ended 30 June 2025 HE202556A30R

LFE
Amounts included in the measure 3745t & 2 8835 8k
of segment profit or loss: BEZEE:
Depreciation of property, plant 1%« iR k& &2
and equipment & - 1,913 - 6 - - 58 1,977
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEAEINE
assets = = = = = = 560 560

Fair value gain on financial assets 172 F &t A& 2

at fair value through profit or SREECATE

loss Y - - - (19417) - - - (19,417)
Gain on disposal of financial HERATENABR

assets at fair value through ZEBBE MR

profit or loss - - - (202) - - - (202)
Impairment losses recognised for 5t fE U Z 5 [ & i 8k 5%

trade and other receivables BRZREFE @ 39,017 58 - - - = 39,073
Impairment losses on loan ERETREES

receivables - 741 - - - - 806 1,647
Impairment losses recognised for 5177 E B 2 BERE

inventories 17 45 - - - - - 162
Written off of amount due to TREREZENR

previous director - - - (2,000) - - - (2,000)
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

6. REksEBERH@w

(b) DEER @

Year ended 30 June 2024 HZ2024%6H30A

LEE
Amounts included in the measure  FB 15 & 2 1% I3
of segment profit or loss: BEzeE:
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% * BiE k& B2
and equipment nE - 3
Depreciation of right-of-use EREAEINE

assets - -
Fair value loss on financial assets 1 2 F{E5t A 2

at fair value through profit or CREEZATE

loss B8 - -
Loss on disposal of financial HERRTEABRE

assets at fair value through ZERBEZER

profit or loss — -
Written off of property, plantand 1% - BiE MR E 2 #8#

equipment - -
Impairment losses recognised/ 3t fEMRE 5 B E 4 BE 5%

(reversed) for trade and BRZREEE/

other receivables (REEEER) - 10,627
Impairment losses on loan EREFRERS

receivables - 15
Impairment losses on right-of-use & E 2 BERE

assets - -

114 - - - 15 132
- 82 - - - 82
- 19,453 - - - 19,453
- 32 - - - 32

450 - - - - 450
56 - (213) - - 10,410
- - - = 43 58
- 1,890 - - - 1,890

No information about segment assets and liabilities is
presented as such information is not regularly provided to the
chief operating decision maker for resource allocation and
performance assessment purposes.

HRIEERERDAERRRFM
EHATITELERKRERHKAH
TREERABNER HAUEZR

SIRRER
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—z=-mxgyg 149



e MR RME
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. RERIEER®W
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
(c) Geographical information (c) WEEHR
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue REEDHNEREPREEMEM
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location oz WamkIERBDEED TH
of assets respectively: PR T :
Revenue Non-current assets
W FRBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
HZ6H30HILELEE M6H30H

2025 2024 2025 2024
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx THET FTHER TR

The People’s Republic 2 A R £ F1
of China (the “PRC”) (TRED - 21F
including Hong Kong BB KRR

and Macau 57,311 208,612 44,540 42,383
(d) Information about major customers d EEXFzER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing REERFEEGNASEHEELTER
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: W10% 2B WA
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET T T
Customer A EPA - 107,878
Customer B =FB - 41,868
Customer C EFC 30,063 -
Customer D =FD 6,756 —
Customer E =FE 6,552 —
Customer A and B contributed revenue from Smart City Solution B E2024F6 AR IEFE BF
during the year ended 30 June 2024. ARBHEEHEZHmBEART K=
ELE B -
Customer C, D and E contributed revenue from Smart City MR2025F6 430 L FE ' FFC
Solution during the year ended 30 June 2025. RDHHEERTRERREELE
Bt REEB A BAERERKESER
'R e
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS ANDLOSSES 7. Hftlh A - WBEREE

2025
2025 £F
HK$’000
FHET
Interest income B WA 1,674 755
Exchange gain/(loss), net X Uz (B18) /38 300 (65)
Others (note) H At (T 7E) 302 1,556
Written off of amount due to R EH AT E FE TR
a previous director 2,000 —
Written off of other payable S B E At FE 5 3R 516 —
4,792 2,246
Note: Others included rental income from investment properties and other sundry ik : AfueEREMENES WA  BUF R
income. REM A o
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WA
2025
2025 %
HK$°000
FER
Interest on leases HEZFE 175 40
Bank loan interest |ITEEF B 126 —
Promissory note interest AR ZERE 134 —
435 40
BENEEEERAT

—z-mxgx 151



e MR RME
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# F 202596 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

9. BR¥BLATEE

2025 2024

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T T
Loss before taxation has been arrived at REFELCEEB 2R ATE

after charging/(crediting): BB (GEA) AT
BHER:

Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) ZEE2H < (F7E100) 6,492 6,732

Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneraton BEERA (T BEEESMHE) 14,153 5,776
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RABHEEIHZI(EFHRIN)

other than directors (note 31) (FF3E31) 608 153
Total staff costs EEB A4 21,253 12,661
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, % - BiE R RE 2T E

included in general and administrative (GtA—M RITHZ HA)

expenses (note 16) (FF5E16) 1,977 132
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in  # & &E 2 47 &

general and administrative expenses GTA—MRITHZHA)

(note 17) (MF3E17) 560 82
Short term leases EEHE 498 360
Auditors remuneration 1% SR B &

— Audit service — ZHED RS 1,300 1,300

— Other services — HihR% - 693
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense O MR A H 2 F &K A 1,804 27,383
Gross rental income from investment properties & & ¥ % 2 F & WA (251) (251)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for ~ J& : AR EEFEE AT L KA L

investment properties that generated REMEBBR2ERE
rental income during the year LERE 36 36
(215) (215)

152

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2025



10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2025
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10.EEME  E5H AL
KaREEEMNE

@ EERESTHAEZ

o <

RIBEE B A RPISE 3831 HER
A(REEENZER) R F2
M RECEEMENT

BZE2025F6H30HILEE

Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
benefits payments contributions emoluments
REMRK
ek RBRIERRA EBHREF ESHe
e HtEN BHR2KE =t % am
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TEx TER TER TER
(note (i)
(GEA)
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny Bt 3,456 = = 18 3,474
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BERLE 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Ms. To Yin Fong Ceciica (note (iv)) # #F 55 £ 4 (Bf 5 (iv)) 240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai R E 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yik Hei ®Ra%%E 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand BB X L4 120 - - - 120
6,456 - - 36 6,492
BENEEEERAR
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEMME - BEaHF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEREEEME @
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration () EERESTHRAEZ
(Continued) B € (@)
Year ended 30 June 2024 BZE2024F6 308 LFE

Executive directors BITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny BEHLT 3,456 - - 18 3,474
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BRRAAE 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica M L+ 480 - - - 480
Independent non-executive ~BYEHTES

directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai RXIERE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yik Hei B5% %% 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand ~~ E#A& X L4 120 - - - 120

6,696 - - 36 6,732
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10.EEME  E5H AL

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and performance of the directors
of the Company.

The remuneration for non-executive directors comprises directors fees
and other emoluments which vary with the number of committees in
which they serve.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
had waived any emoluments in both years.

Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica resigned on 27 December 2024.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of those persons other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors were for their services as directors of the
Company.

LEREEEME @

(@ EEREEITRAEZ

M < ()

G

0) BRIERRERZZSBHIBNKE
B mARBRZHEMERERER
V2EAKREUBEEARARAE
ETEREMERE -

(i FATEETCHERREETERER
HuMe SEFEEHEZEZES
BEMAMAR -

(iii RREFESE AEEHERT
RAARAEEZAME  (EREM
ARE B A MARE B B2 RE
NEAEE TR IR -
MEFERN  BEARDEETHE
EfRIB & -

vy fEHFF LT B R2024F12827H
BT o

AHTEEINAGT2HE 2
BAEMERN -—BAERAZFAL
RHUEEEARTDRENE QA
ZEBEBIEMRB ZE N
JE BN <&

ARRRFHTEZTREILIEH
TEEEEARARREEMAEX
NEZ®RE -
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEMe BEaH AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEREEEM <@
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments (b)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2024:
three) directors of the Company. Details of the emoluments
of those directors for the year ended 30 June 2025 and 2024
during their directorship period are set out above. The aggregate
emoluments of the three (2024: two) highest paid employees of
the Group, not being directors of the Company, are as follows:

EeFES
rEEBREERHFALTERBRE
ME (20245 : =R) KRB ES -
% EE FE £2025F K2024F6
AS0R It FE AR E =Bz M
SHBRREX -AEEEH=F
(20245 : — &) B = FEB (W
RARARER)cHMESBELOT :

2025 2024

20254 2024 4F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx F&T

Salaries and other benefits e RHEMER 2,662 1,562
Layoff compensation BB E - 45
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR 4Kk 48 | 51 2l £ % 54 35
2,716 1,642

Emolument of three (2024: two) employees were within the
following band:

M (2024F : —R)EEZHEN
FTIIEE :

Number of employees

BEAH

2024
2024 5

HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 /& 7£—1,000,000 % 7T
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 1,500,000 % 7T

There were no amounts paid during the year (2024: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.
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11.

12.

GAIN ON DEREGISTRATION OF
COMPANIES

The amount mainly represents release of customers deposits held by
one of subsidiaries in previous year.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 2 May 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to sell all of the equity interest of Honest City Enterprises Limited (“the
Disposal Group”) to an independent third party at the consideration
of HK$45.9 million in order to streamline the Group’s resources. The
transaction was completed on 30 October 2023.

M. FZFEHAT 2 W=

TERRET-—HMBRABBRATESF
BZEPEMK-

12. HEWE 2Rz W

M2023F5 A2  AEBBEBIE=H
FIVEEHE WHERREEBRA
AIM 2 E100% % BEeREABE
45,900,0007T * BRI ANEEER - X5
B R 2023410 30 H 52X °

Consideration received: EARAE :
HK$’000
FAT
Cash consideration received YRS RE 45,900
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost upon REEEBMAEEFENEERBR
disposal of business: DT
HK$'000
FAT
Investment property "EME 4,498
Finance lease receivables B EAEREBIER 30,848
Trade and other receivables BWE S R EMIER 2,405
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEH 3
Trade and other payables FEUNE 5 Kk B Ab AR 3K (2,841)
Tax payables FET B3R (2,034)
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE 32,879
BEMNEEBERALT
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12. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 12. HEK B A 7 2 W& @)

(Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— KB AR AU :
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration received 2R E 45,900
Net assets of the subsidiary MEBARMFEE (32,879)
Cumulative exchange difference in MAREEFEEERNB AR FEED
respect of the net assets of the REE R ER
subsidiary released on loss of control 1,814
Net assets attributable to non-controlling B AR EERESELFEE
interest of the subsidiary 17,301
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB QR R E 32,136
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEENRESRAFRE:
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration received in cash and RekReSBEWRNRE
cash equivalents 45,900
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of & : D HER & MBS F5E &)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal PE—FEHRBAREENBESRAFE
of a subsidiary 45,897
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A
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. T GHER
2025 2024
2025 2024 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Current tax: BV ERFR IR :
— PRC enterprise income tax —HEEMEH 106 1,397
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 15 -
121 1,397
(Over)/under provision in prior years: BEFE 2 GBEBE) BE
TR
— Hong Kong profits tax —BEENEB 15 (224)
— PRC enterprise income tax —F B EMER (340) (886)
(325) (1,110
Deferred tax: IRIERIA
— Credited for the year —F AR (932) (841)
Income tax credit FrgfiE e (1,136) (554)
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) BETFECERGRE(EERSH
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the FDRERLEMBREEEIEH - F
Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for both years. For income generated in Nz BRARMERNZHRED R
the Mainland earned by subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC is 25% o 7 B3R A 5T i K 32 &9 BT B A A
subject to withholding tax at 10% (2024: 10%). 1 /B At 15 /9 IR A ZE $210% (2024
F:10%) B TEFI L o
Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of EERNNEHEFET  GEBEZED
profit of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and profit above B 2008 /8 T 7| 15 15 12 8.25% H i - BB
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profit of corporations not 2008 & ST F 45 RIHZ16.6% & AK 1T
qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rates regime will continue to be RERMNEBREHNEERNER  HA
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% (2024: Ni). BB 1216.5% M) B — B R B (2024

F B

SENHEEERAT
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

13. I8 HER@®

AFEFZRBELEE
m%Z&%%ﬁﬁuféﬂé‘ﬂEﬂuT-

m & H At 2 W

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Loss before taxation bR i AT B 1B (51,445) (12,776)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBEMNEHE165%
(2024: 16.5%) (20245"E 16.5%) 5T & 2 1A (8,489) (2,108)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REM AR KL 2 [ E AT
operating in other jurisdiction ZARME & 263 471
Tax effect of temporary difference AERNEREEZEV KT E
not recognised 6,623 1,713
Tax effect of income exempted or not subject % E fth &) 5% Hh 6 JE EA S0 B AR 3k
to taxation in other jurisdiction BERMBAZR BT & 4,112) (5,415)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible fortax ~ HARHEHE IR 2% 2
purposes M2 3,789 4,062
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRBBEZBETE 1,634 2,523
Over provision in respect of prior years HAFEBANEE %75{ 1 (325) (1,110)
Tax effect of two-tier tax rate AR T 2 (15) —
Tax relief NBEER (467) (404)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not PRHBFERERZHRIERIE
recognised (37) (286)
Income tax credit for the year FRAEHRIKE (1,136) (554)

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June
2025 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting

period (2024 Nil).
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15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. 8 RE1E
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the RARBEEAELHZERERNEBIR
Company is based on the following data: BTAERGE :
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Loss for the year attributable to owners AAREEARERFEEIE
of the Company (44,226) (12,420)
Number of ordinary shares EBERKLE A ’000 '000
F®R F &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ sFE SR E A E1E 2 LB
for the purpose of basic loss per share It 39 2 879,945 683,831
Diluted loss per share for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024 R E £2025F 202496 4301 L F
were the same as the basic loss per share as there were no potential FEUEEETECERAR MRESFE
ordinary shares outstanding during both years. ZERES (R BFNAGRER(F

1B)/BAER -

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ ¥ - BENRFZE

Furniture Construction

Plant and and Motor in progress
machinery fixtures vehicles (Note) Total

BE HER ERIE
BEMAKX HGAREE "E (B &) 5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

Cost AR

At 1 July 2023 12023%7 A1H 8,293 8,251 1,962 — 18,506
Currency realignment & 5 A (42) ) _ _ (45)
Additions NE 3,150 — — — 3,150
Written off 88 2,161) - - - 2,161)

At 30 June 2024 and F202446 A30H K

1 July 2024 2024 7H1H 9,240 8,248 1,962 - 19,450
Currency realignment fE 3 B 166 16 - 60 242
Additions NE 280 199 — 6,076 6,555
Written off Jih 35 (650) (5,608) (1,962) — (8,218)
At 30 June 2025 M 2025% 6 A30H 9,036 2,857 — 6,136 18,029

Note: The construction in progress represented production line and corresponding M EEIREMNRTPREZEEGREBZ
machineries located in the PRC. R
BEMNEEBERALT
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 5%  BMERRE®

(Continued)

Depreciation and HERMAE

impairment
At 1 July 2023 R2023F7 A1H 3,870 8,159 1,962 — 13,991
Currency realignment 0 5, & (4) © - - )
Provided for the year FNEE 130 2 — — 132
Eliminated on written off  #ifl 5 BF 15 8 (1,711) - - - (1,711)

At 30 June 2024 and W2024%F6 A30 R K&

1 July 2024 2024 7R1H 2,285 8,158 1,962 — 12,405
Currency realignment BE 5 B 38 14 - - 52
Provided for the year FREE 1,934 43 — - 1,977
Eliminated on written off 1l 3 5 45 34 (650) (5,606) (1,962) - 8,218)
At 30 June 2025 #2025 6 A30H 3,607 2,609 — — 6,216
Carrying values HREE
At 30 June 2025 7202596 A30H 5,429 248 — 6,136 11,813
At 30 June 2024 7202466 A30H 6,955 90 - — 7,045
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE

Land and
buildings
T RAEF
HK$’000
T T
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 720236 H30H K% 2023%F7A1H —
Additions NE 1,972
Depreciation expense mEER (82)
Impairment loss AEEE (1,890)
Carrying amount RESHE
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 720246 H30H K% 2024%7 A1H —
Additions NE 2,802
Depreciation expense mEER (560)
Currency realignment ME 5, 38 & 22
At 30 June 2025 1202566 A30H 2,264
For the year ended 30 June 2025 BZE2025F6A30H L FE
Expense relating to short-term leases and other MEHMEENEMEEREENER -
leases with lease term ended within 12 months HBEEHRE12@ARER 498
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLBHE 2,144
For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE202456H30B LFE
Expense relating to short-term leases and other HEHHERAMEERENER -
leases with lease term ended within 12 months HEHAEHAEI12EARNGR 360

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLBHE 1,318

For both years, the Group lease various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 2 to 5 years (2024: 2
years) but may have extension options included. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the
option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an
economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal option. After the lease
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is
significant event or change in circumstances that in beyond its control
and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew
(e.g. a change in business strategy). As the Group considered the
exercise of the extension option is uncertain, therefore the lease term
does not include the extension option. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of difference terms and
conditions.

MEHB ~*EEHRESERQAEMNA
BLETKE HEARNETHR A
2FESF (2024F : 24F ) - B A RE B IEIE
HEE - AEEEFEREAERET
FENBEESEAHE - b2 H
CEERTHABREMEENBEZERREMR
KESINEERZ REERKB
BoMBEEEASTHIBRELCBLE
7% ) &5 [ W 52 B E AT (TR TTE) B
BIEE(FIUNEBRBEE)NEN K
SEeEFNTHEHER - AEBR BT
FEHZREESTRERE At AEH
TERBENEEE HEKRIZREE
FlIERHGEREEN HPREEsEEZR
R R A1 -
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18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF 18. % HWERSZEBERME

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the business performance of
the renewable energy and smart city solution segment were below
expectation, the management of the Group concluded there were
indication for impairment and performed impairment assessment on
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant segment,
which are considered as individual CGUs to which the assets belong.
The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been determined on
the basis of value in use.

The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on the
latest financial budgets approved by the management of the Company
covering a 5-year period. Cash flow projection during the budget period
was based on the operating costs, budgeted sales, growth rate and
gross margin during the budget period and the budgeted sales and
budgeted margin have been determined based on past performance
and management’s expectations for the future changes in the market.

Based on the result of the assessment, the directors of the Company
determine that the recoverable amount of the CGUs is lower than the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGUs, the directors of the Company
concluded that no impairment (2024: Nil) on property, plant and
equipment, and no impairment (2024: HK$1,890,000) on right-of-use
assets were provided for the year ended 30 June 2025 respectively.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW =

Carrying value at 1 July 2023 R2023F7 1B ZREE 37,959
Currency realignment fE 5 AR (164)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ A FERE (3,533)

Carrying value at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 72202496 A30H &

2024F7RA1HAZREE 34,262
Currency realignment e &A% 638
Fair value loss on investment properties KEWEZ AFEESE (4,437)
Carrying value at 30 June 2025 M2025F6 A30A 2 REE 30,463

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20. A —EBERNT 2R

2025

2025 £F

HK$’000

THET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - IR ANE — 2
Share of post-acquisition losses FEIR IR 1R B 1R - .
— 2

During the year, the Group disposed its 20% equity interest in
Champion Oriana Power Management Limited (“Champion Oriana
Power”) at a consideration of HK$200.

FRAEENEEBB200THEH
REEENZGBERAR(EEEBNER
#81)20% #E &5 o

BEREEEERAT
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2025 are as follows:

Principal
Place of place of Class of
Name of company incorporation operation shares held
= il AR 32 TE frisE R4
NGRS 1t B REMR Hhl

2025
2025 F 2024

Champion Oriana Power ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary

BEENER 90 i il

Champion Oriana Power, the only associate in which the Group
participates, is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price
is not available.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interest in
an associate, which is prepared using accounting policies in conformity
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group and accounted for
using the equity method, is set out below:

20.R—EBEQAFZER

(#)

R2025F6 A0 AEBM A EEZ
EI - UNNE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital

held by the Group Principal activity
FEEREERT
JiR 2 [ {8 2 Lt 61 TEXEK

2024

- 20% Provision of solar
energy and
related products

- 20%  REAEE A KRR
4 E

LT EERBEENREGE B AN
B nr HWEmE
AR o

AEER—HBERRZEDE ZMHE
MEERAESMRA 2 SFTBR HHE
AEERRMZETBR -3 B@EM
BEMAE R EAR  EMEEHII0T :

2024

2024 5

HK$'000

FAT

Total assets EERE 10
Total liabilities BEES (11)
(1)

Revenue I &= -
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year AFEEBELAEZEILASE —
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

mEMBRRNE
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

1. BERAFEHFABERZS
MEE

2025 2024
2025 2024 &
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted equity investment FELETRAEE

— Company A (note (i) — A AJA(KEE®) — —
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong (note (i) & & £ 1 B& AN 3% & (Bt 5% (i) 36,507 10,421
36,507 10,421

Represented by: AR & ISR
Current assets BN HA &6 19 36,507 10,421
Non-current assets FE BN AR F 19 - -
36,507 10,421

Notes:

(i

On 29 March 2019, Allied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited (“Allied Joy”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and two other independent third parties
established a company (defined as “Company A”), which was incorporated
in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”") with limited liability. Allied Joy subscribed
for 25 ordinary shares of total US$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,965,000) of Company A. Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of Company A, it required more than 50% of the voting rights
of shareholders to pass all the resolution (including appointment and removal
of directors of Company A. The other two shareholders, together hold 75%
of the equity interests of Company A, have joint control over Company A and
appointed all directors in Company A. Upon the completion of the subscription,
the Group holds 25% of equity interest in Company A. The Group has no
right to appoint any director in the board of directors of Company A which is
responsible for making decisions of the relevant activities of Company A. In this
regard, the directors of the Company conclude that the Group does not have
significant influence over Company A and hence conclude that the investment
in Company A is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss of the Group.

The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the
quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange. For details,
please refer to securities investments section in Management Discussion and
Analysis in the 2025 annual report of the Group.

MR2019F3 298 ' AR AMEEWNE A
AER (BB AR AR (TEHRD 8B INE
UBIE=FARIL—BRAR(EEAID
AAD) ZARERBHABRHES((XRKE
HEERBE ) AMKLAEREET AR -
JER A A RIAR S 725/ L @A - &5
250,000 7t (18 & 7 471,965,000 7T ) °
BIEARANBBERRNMAMAA - A
RE(BEQAFAAESNEGMER)EH
RAIAF A BB50%M T ERNRFRB
THEBB ZHIMBREEFTIHFAARA
Z75% AR - Bkt PR ZES T QA
A TEGTARANFTEES - TRR
BB AEBEERAAZ25%H IRHE -
AEBEREAATNAESSERES M
ZEESHAEYRARANBRBESETT
AR -EEHNEAAAREERANEEY
ARBIRBHENTEN TEREBELA
W B AAANRBREARARNEEBZA
FEHFAABZZEMEE -

BE LTI 2D FET R A TIES
KT EEE AHRFAGEE F2H
REB2025F F AP [EIEE i RO
TR ESFIRED

BEMNBREEERAA
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22. INVENTORIES

22. 17

4

1=

PPL 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx F& T
Raw materials G 3,169 3,113
Work in progress T8 m 269 720
Finished goods BN T 3,456 3,574
6,894 7,407

Notes: AT -

(i)

(i)

Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stones and
antiques) of HK$1,168,000 (2024: HK$1,260,000), which are held for trading
and resale in the ordinary course of business.

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, all the cultural products of the Group were
stored in a warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024, the Group engaged the valuer,
Access Partner Consultancy & Appraisals Limited (“Access Partner”) to assess
the current market values of all 225 pieces of cultural products based on the
grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition of
the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30
June 2025 by Access Partner, the management of the Group determined that
no significant variance between net realisable values and their carrying amounts
as of 30 June 2024 and no impairment loss was provided for the year ended
30 June 2025.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the valuer, the carrying amount net of impairment recognised so
far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements, was the best estimate of
the recoverable amount of the cultural products.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.EWES REMER

PR E 5 K H Bk &K

Trade and other receivables

2025 2024
2025 F 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH& T
Trade receivables (note i) fEUR & 5 BR 3R (BT aEi) 162,661 150,366
Less: provision for impairment losses B R EEERE (47,135) (7,529)
115,526 142,837
Other receivables (note i) P M L At B K (BT i) 44,566 45,584
Less: provision for impairment losses R EE B RS (6,751) (6,676)
37,815 38,908
153,341 181,745
Represented as: T3 IETR
Current portion BN HR & 15 153,237 180,671
Non-current portion FE BN AR F 19 104 1,074
153,341 181,745
Notes: B & -
0] The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers (0] AEBEREESEFPETHBEZEER

R-BREREZER RBELRERZMKE
B TRRERTHBERME TEF30H
MEEHR AEBERHEEXLERZEE
BRABEF RN -

depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period for 30 days. The Groups
credit policy for sales of cultural products are cash on delivery.

BEIBRREMNTFARNRT W BE
RREHBENIRMNRRIRE KA -

(i) It mainly represents amount due from the former subsidiaries, prepayment for (i)
property, plant and equipment and project cost.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.EWE S REMERR @

(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period

RKEZEFR(IHEBRBEEER) XK
THEERRERZRHAZKEITZ

is as follows: N
2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
0-60 days 0-60H 31,799 94,100
61-90 days 61-90H 263 2
91-180 days 91-180H 794 25,002
181-365 days 181-365 H 11,825 25,856
Over 365 days BB 365 H 117,980 5,406
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses B TEHIE B R EE (47,135) (7,529)
115,526 142,837

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales
management team would assess the potential customers credit
worthiness and define the credit limit accordingly for the customers.
Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly with
reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation. Details of the credit policy impairment
assessment of trade receivable for the year ended 30 June 2025 and
2024 are set in note 5.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on past due status at the end of the reporting period

23.EWE FREMERR@

ERBERRBHRN2 2 EKRE
SFEFANGEBEREEER) ZREDT

is as follows: mr
PPL 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FA& T
Not past due 7R 781 5 1,684 36
Less than 1 month past due BH LR —EA 2,071 69,741
1 to 3 months past due BmEH—==[@A 28,312 24,329
3 to 12 months past due wmE ==+ @A 12,614 50,854
Past due over 1 year wEA R —F 117,980 5,406
160,977 150,330
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss B THEE B R ERE (47,135) (7,529)
115,526 142,837
+=
24. LOAN RECEIVABLES 24. EIRE X
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FE T
Loan receivable fE W E & 50,712 6,798
Less: provision for impairment losses R EE R (1,734) (174)
48,978 6,624
Represented as: A TRP &SR
Current portion BIHA &6 1 47,993 6,624
Non-current portion FE BN AR FB 19 985 —
48,978 6,624

As at 30 June 2025, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of
HK$48,978,000 (2024: HK$6,624,000) were due from 14 borrowers (2024:
3), unsecured and with personal guarantee. The loan receivables carry
fixed interest rates at 6% to 8.5% per annum with maturity date within 6-24

months from the loan draw down date.

M2025F6 A30H + E U + W& & K
A (2024 : =) /) & UL B 5 (30 Bk 78 87
EEEE) A 448,978,000 JT (2024 :
6,624,000 7T) - ZEERAEEREE
BAER BREFXNEETFHNERE
85% BB AERIRMBEHEN S E
“tH@EARA -
SENBEEERAT
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@)

(b)

172

B BERBEEEH

The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits () BerBLeSEREIHNA A=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the BASKKAAZERFEFREEAE
Group. BEZE®-
Certain bank balances and cash of HK$4,520,000 (2024: 804,520,000/ 7t (2024 4F : 8,128,000
HK$8,128,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely BIL) 2 & TRITHEBRERIRE T
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance AREE  mMARELIETR
of these funds out of the Mainland is subject to exchange EMBEBRLBRZEE - BFEA
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. MEHZEESEAXTRABRFE
B 2 SN B Il PTAR R ©
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) ERMEEHFEEXEEN
financing activities ¥ 8
The table below shows the detailed changes in the Groups major TERHFIWAEBEREESHFTE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and SFZaEMEH(BERE LI
non-cash changes. ReEH) FI1E-
*Loan from
a third party
(Included Amount
in other due to Lease
payable) a director liabilities Total
(note 28)
*E=HER
(BEEHM Ef—%#
B EENE HEEE @5t
(P 5 28)
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
T T T T T T T T
At 1 July 2023 A2023%F7HA1H — 2,000 840 2,840
Financing cash flows: MERERE:
Repayment of lease liabilities £ 2 & & & — — (©18) (©18)
Advance to a director REEZH BN — (2,000) — (2,000)
Interest paid B A — — (40) (40)
Advance from a third party 2R B % = H H 8 3K 27,998 - - 27,998
27,998 (2,000) (958) 25,040
Other changes: Hib 25 :
New lease entered RIS 2 A — 1,972 1,972
Finance costs BT TS AR — 40 40
Exchange realignment P& 5 58 & - - (63)
— 2,012 1,949
At 30 June 2024 7A2024F6 A30H 27,935 — 1,894 29,829
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS continuesy 25. R € R B EF w0

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) ERMMEETHMEEEEN
financing activities (Continued) # AR ()

At 1 July 2024 202457818 — — 27,935 1,894 29,829
Financing cash flows: BERSHRE:
Repayment of lease liabiities EEHE & E - - - (1,471) (1,471)
Interest paid BERFIE (24) (126) — (175) (325)
New bank borrowings raised ~ #T12R1TfEE - 7,054 - - 7,054
Proceed from promissory note 7K 8 #& % Z & 5,000 - — - 5,000
Repayment of promissory note {8 & & % 2 & (2,000) - - - (2,000)
2,976 6,928 — (1,646) 8,258
Other changes: Hit# g
New lease entered el 2 A - - - 2,802 2,802
Finance costs 8RR 134 126 - 175 435
Exchange realignment e AR - 69 556 22 647
134 195 556 2,999 3,884
At 30 June 2025 20256 A30H 3,110 7,128 28,491 3,247 41,971
* Loan from third party is unsecured, interest free and had no fixed * RAREN AR ERN S ERERE
repayment terms. TE & AR -
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other payables

FE & 5 IR
J& 1 HL i AR 3R

2025
2025

HK$°000
TART

113,750
57,035

26. BN E 5 K H 1t ik =K

86,770
64,475

170,785

151,245

The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BNEBEZEFINRENTHEEREER

BBz R D25

2025

2025 £

HK$°000

FHET
0-60 days 0-60 B 35,691 511
61-90 days 61-90 H = —
91-365 days 91-365 H 2,773 85,195
Over 1 year BiE—F 75,286 1,064
113,750 86,770

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
174 Annual Report 2025

BEEmZEEHHIOBE-



NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINAN

mEMBRRNE
CIAL STATEMENTS

# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. 6N EE
2025 2024
2025 2024 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Receipts in advance from customers for FIBHIRE 2 FEWE 5KIB
provision of services 648 847
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEEED
2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FAT
At 1 July M7A18 847 717
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 17 #H AR 75 T8 W 5K 1A
billing in advance of provision of service mEEE L& EEM 17 353
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RENBRITAFTEL
recognising revenue during the year thatwas B ERNKREMEHENERE
included in contract liabilities at the beginning &l 4
of the year (216) (223)
At 30 June K6 H30H 648 847

The Group’s contract with the client is to assist them in installing solar
panels which will optimize energy usage and reduce costs. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits range from 30%
of total contract sum as part of its credit risk management policies. The
Group typically transfers to revenue according to stage of completion.

All the amount of billings in advance of performance related to
renewable energy business as at 30 June 2025 are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year.

AEBETFETNG N E B M
RRANGRER - LEBCERER L REE
KA EREERAREEBREKRN —F
D AREERRLEFPRHATIRE
MBS EI0BM AR REBE AT
TADEERA -

20256 A30H - BRIAI B AR %
BHERAOZEBNFEEFR —FR
R AW -
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEAE
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T T
Lease liabilities payable: EREEAE:
Within one year —F N 1,455 969
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ — 4 A 1B T8 i@ @ 4
more than two years 571 925
Within a period of more than two years butnot —F A F{ET BB RF
more than five years 1,221 —
3,247 1,894
Less: amounts due for settlement within BB BETMY12ME AR
12 months shown under current liabilities B EEER IR (1,455) (969)
Amounts due for settlement after SERBARE T 12 A&
12 months shown under non-current liabilites %/ B {8 1& £ 1B 1,792 925
4= /&
29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. RITHEE
2025
2025 F
HK$°000
FHExT
Bank borrowings RITEE
Secured bank borrowings BEMETEE 7,123
The bank borrowings bear interest of 0.55% plus 1 year PRC Loan 20256 A30 R - SRITEEE1F A F
Prime Rate per annum as at 30 June 2025 and repayable on 31 EXRSERFRNE F055%:F 8
December 2027. ERBHA2027F12A31H -
At 30 June 2025, the Group’s bank borrowing is secured by interest of R2025F6 A30R - AEERITEEL
a property located in the PRC of the Group. —IEM RPN EREREERT -
The bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are carried B B 12 B SR IR R SR 1T 18 SR 8
at amortized cost. None of such loans due for repayment after one year RARGIER - lWEE R BN —F1&
is expected to be settled within one year. IHEEE HEAR-FANES-
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30. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE

On 19 November 2024, the Company issued a promissory note with
principal amount of HK$3,000,000 to an independent third party.

The maturity date of the promissory note is 18 November 2026 or such
other date as the Company and the holder of the promissory note may
agree in writing.

The promissory note carries interest at 6% per annum based on the
principal amount then outstanding on a daily basis which shall be due
and payable on the maturity date of the issue date of the promissory
note.

On 19 December 2024, the Company issued a promissory note with
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 to an independent third party.

The maturity date of the promissory note is 18 February 2025 or such
other date as the Company and the holder of the promissory note may
agree in writing.

The promissory note carries interest at 7% per annum based on the
principal amount then outstanding on a daily basis which shall be due
and payable on the maturity date of the issue date of the promissory
note. The promissory note had been fully repaid during the year.

For both promissory notes, neither the Company nor the holder of the
promissory note may assign any of its rights and obligations without
the prior written consent of the other party. The Company may repay all
or part of the principal together with interest accrued thereon without
penalty at any time prior to the maturity date by giving 7 days’ prior
written notice to the holder of the promissory note.

30. B A H R

R2024%F 11 A198 AR BABYE =
7 317 R & & %8 /43,000,000 T 2 & K,

e R

ZAEAHEZENDEE B2026511 A18H
RANREZEALZEBFEAREER
WERMEMBHE -

AL RBNERNERR6%  RIFE R K
EEASSHZAFE BRZALRE
BREH AT

R2024F 12 8198 » AR Al FAIBILFE =
F 1T A& & 552,000,000 T 2 H A

Eix e

ZEGLRIE B8 B 2202552 H18H
HARBEZEALRBEFTEATELER
BhRE R E A H

ZEARBNERNERB7%  RIBEH KR
BEEASSBERAGE BRZEALE
BHIHAXN WA ERBENFER
BHEE-

BMOEALRENS  KEX—ATFE
EHREE  ARAFAHALREREAY
TREFEEAENRER KARFA
REBMAAEAERAALREREA
BHEtREEBEMN ERAIENER
TEEEMALO AN EREFE -
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

31.RIKERETE

Retirement benefit contributions to
the Group’s defined contribution scheme

ZRRAE R SRR

[[) 7N 5% 18 2 T BR fH SRAT 81 S

2025 2024
2025 5 2024 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB T FAT
644 189

(a)

178

Defined contribution scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the “MPF”)
scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme charged
to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total expense recognised in the profit or loss
amounted to HK$644,000 (2024: HK$189,000) and represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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ARBETETHERARRBY
BE2HE-RRKREANGE - %A
HEHCEERAEBEZEENR
FA YHFERABILXEAZSZ
EgA-

B2000F12A 8 "EBAER
ERCHIBEAEREETMER
sHEAHEAES((RESL]) T
Zlo RN 2 RBESFTEIRIK
BHRKARIEAEEIZBES S
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K e
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 31. B K& R 51 2l )

(Continued)

(b) Forfeited contributions (b) & W fit =X

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined
a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Groups qualifying employees
in the Mainland, the Group has participated in the retirement
benefits scheme operated by the local municipal government
of Shenzhen. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of their payroll costs to the scheme to fund the
benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement
and their length of services in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the scheme. Contributions to the scheme are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution under the
Mainland retirement benefit scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

H2000F 12 A1B & REEIRE
BEEEREBEZ2NAHERES
e ((mESEE)) wREesta
BRI 3 5 M A TE S A KB M
BHMEAESEETEBEM - *
BBz EERBIYIEAL
HlzEESRHE BAEEZEED
HERE - REGRESHE EER
HEBRERBRAGTHZLEER
BESHEELHA - AEEHH
BHESHE L E—BEEARELR
EEWL 2 3R - BR B FEEE RN -
AT ] 58 18 & 51 8] 2 0% UK fiE ZR AT
FRIADR AR R FEREEL Z -

ERAKEETEAMLZEER
BEZRAKENTE AEEE2
IR Y 7T R AT S 2 R IR
BAMEE - AKRBAREHERS
MRAZEEB D LR EIHER
AABAREES - RIFEHEEBRA
MY BREAZHZERK ZENR
FaehREFHFEZRKBHN -
AEBEERZAEZE—RER
FEFLAEREFED Z MR-
M %A Bl EH 2 R ERIBEZ
SrEIZRAIEMAR  EREeBER
Hib 2 H U s R AHIER o 88 E
B A 2 R ARE AR &l 2 R MK
HERATRAMBARRFEEEL 2
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32. IEE B 18
R2025F6A30H  "EBERBE 2
5 T8 &5 18 #9674,520,0007% 7T (2024 4 :
664,843,000 L) + Al A{EKH B & 2

At 30 June 2025, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$674,520,000 (2024: HK$664,843,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the

unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses may be Ao AR REETERT BB 2% F RIR -

carried forward indefinitely. MW EBERECHIBEEE - WEBIEE
B O R Bl AR R 45 82 o

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHREEE

At 1 July 2023 R2023%F7 A1H 8,049
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss REB AR BT AR ®41)
Exchange difference N =5 (33)

At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 202496 A30H K&2024%7 81H 7,175
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss EEFRIEAT AR (932)
Exchange difference E X Z R 139
At 30 June 2025 202546 A30H 6,382

180
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33. AR & &

(@) Movements in components of equity (2 HEaosz®8H
The recondiliation between the opening and closing balances of REBGERAEES LD 25
each component of the Groups consolidated equity is set out NMRFEREHB 2HEHAZRE
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of AEZEBRA - AAFIRAZ
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity & B 38 5 R F ¥ & F R ME
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in B H A M EE39 ©
note 39.
(b) Share capital (b) &=
Number of shares Amount
BB EE o]
‘000 HK$’000
TR FA& T
Authorised share capital: VETERRAN
Balance at 1 July 2023 with par value & & IR EI{E0.01 7 ;L at 2
of HK$0.01 each 2023F7HA1H 160,000,000 1,600,000
Share consolidation W& O (120,000,000) -
Increase in authorised share capital 5 TE BR AN 3E 1N 120,000,000 —
Balance at 30 June 2024, 1 July 2024 1% & % E{E0.0178 JL 5t 722024 &
and 30 June 2025 with par value of 7H1H 20246 A308 &
HK$0.01 each 202546 A30H 160,000,000 1,600,000
Number of Share Share Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
13 & B i A< 5% B [N ¥
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T& THT THT FTHT THET
Issued and fully paid share capital: B %47 & 8 & Bk A
Balance at 1 July 2023 with par BB EE0AE TR
value of HK$0.01 each 20237 A1 H Z &% 2,735,324 27,353 2,214,617 1,093,039 3,335,009
Share consolidation (Note 1) Bt & 6F (B ) (2,051,498) - - - -
Capital reduction (Note 1) FRA IR (B ) - (20,515) 20,515 - -
Balance at 30 June 2024 and 1 EREE0.01B TR
July 2024, with par value of 2024F6A 308 K&
HK$0.01 each 20247 A1 B W& & 683,831 6,838 2,235,132 1,093,039 3,335,009
Issuance of new shares it & i fn
Upon placing of shares less BRI IR ER 5 KA
transaction cost (Note 2) 300,876 3,009 59,428 - 62,437
Balance at 30 June 2025 with par 12 & R A E0.01# 7Tt
value of HK$0.01 each 20254 6 A0 A M & 4 984,707 9,847 2,294,560 1,093,039 3,397,446
BEMNEEBERALT
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

182

Note 1: On 6 February 2024, the Company proposed to implement a
capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation”) which involves
Share Consolidation and Capital Reduction, as follow:

the Company proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every four (4) issued and
unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company will be consolidated into one (1)
Consolidated Share of HK$0.04 each.

immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming
effective, the Capital Reduction whereby the issued share
capital of each issued Consolidated Share of the Company
will be reduced from HK$0.04 to HK$0.01 by cancellation
of HK$0.03 of the paid-up capital of the Company on
each issued Consolidated Share so that each issued
Consolidated Share will be treated as one (1) fully paid-
up share of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company.

The aforesaid Capital Reorganisation was effective on 19 March

2024.
Note 2: (i)

On 27 June 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, maximum of
136,764,000 placing shares (2024 Placing).

The placing of new shares was completed on 19 July
2024 and a total of 136,764,000 Placing Shares at the
Placing Price of HK$0.175 per Placing Share were placed
to not less than six Placees (2024 Placing). The net
price of each Placing Share received was approximately
HK$0.171. The market price of the share of the Company
on 27 June 2024, being the date on which the terms
of the issue were fixed, was HK$0.203. The Company
intends to use the net proceeds mainly for the working
capital for the Green Energy Business of the Group.

On 7 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing
agreement, pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, maximum of
164,112,000 placing shares (2025 Placing).

The placing of new shares was completed and a total
of 164,112,000 placing shares at the placing price of
HK$0.245 per placing share were placed to not less
than six placees on 4 February 2025. The net proceeds
from the placing, after deducting placing commission,
professional fees and all related expenses, amounted
to approximately HK$38.5 million. The net price of each
Placing Share received was HK$0.238. The market price
of the share of the Company on 7 January 2025, being
the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed, was
HK$0.295. The Company intends to use the net proceeds
mainly for the working capital for the Green Energy
Business of the Group.
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the amount by
which the Company issued share capital was diminished
on cancellation of ordinary share repurchased.

General reserve

The general reserve represents the reserve arising from
the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 25 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2002) of HK$2.5
each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of
HK$2.4 on each share of the Company in 2002.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from (a)
a bonus issue of shares of a subsidiary of the Company
by way of capitalising the subsidiary’s retained profits and
deemed capital contribution from a substantial shareholder, (o)
the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 20 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2017) of HK$2 each
by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$1.9
on each share of the Company in 2017 and the reduction
of the nominal amount of the share of the Company of
HK$0.1 each by cancelling HK$0.09 on each share of the
Company in 2022.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the
group reorganisation in 1992.

Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 34. B R RESTE

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible
persons, including directors of the Company or any of their respective
subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

On 29 December 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Scheme was adopted for the purpose (i) to enable
the Company to grant Options to the eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the growth and development
of the Group; (i) to attract and retain personnel to promote the
sustainable development of the Group; and (ji) to align the interest
of the grantees with those of the Shareholders to promote the long-
term financial and business performance of the Company. Under the
Share Option Scheme, Eligible Participants include any employee of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries; any non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; also include Related Entity Participants and
Service Providers (collectively, “Non-employee Persons”). The
Directors consider that the inclusion of the Non-employee Persons
to participate in the Share Option Scheme is consistent with the
purpose of the Share Option Scheme, which enables the Company
to grant Options as incentives or rewards to attract personnel outside
the Group to promote the sustainable development of the Group and
align the mutual interests of each party, as both the Company and
the Non-employee Persons, by holding on to equity incentives, will
mutually benefit from the long term growth of the Group. The basis
of eligibility of any of the eligible persons to the grant of share options
shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the basis of their
contribution or potential contribution to the development and growth of
the Group. The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from 29 December 2022.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period as determined by the Board, which must not
be more than 10 years from the date of the grant. The vesting period
for options under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 12
months from the date of acceptance of the offer.

The subscription price in respect of any option wil be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the Offer; and (iii) (where applicable)
the nominal value of a share.
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34 SHARE OPT'ON SCHEMES (Continued)

35

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated 30
November 2022.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company aforementioned,
at no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme and Old Share Option Scheme since
their adoption as of 30 June 2025.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme at the beginning and end of the reporting year is 68,383,084
Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (For
Related Entity Participants or Service Providers: 27,353,233 Shares).
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the reporting year divided by
the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the year is zero (For Related Entity Participants or
Service Providers: zero).

Subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company resolved to
grant share options to 3 eligible participants, including 2 directors and
1 senior management of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
under the Share Option Scheme, after fulfilment of certain performance
target set up by the Company, to subscribe for a total of 5% of the
ordinary Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 68,383,084 Shares and
the percentage of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) that it
represented is 6.95%. The maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme is 1% of the total number of Shares in
issue.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 7.5 years.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme since 23
December 2024.

The Share Award Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. It is established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible participants.
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35. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 35. % 10 ZE B & 8 (a0

The Eligible Participants under the Share Award Scheme includes (a)
the directors and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any other person who is granted Awards as an inducement to
enter into an employment or engagement contract with any of these
companies; (b) the directors and employees of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (i.e. the
Related Entity Participants); and (c) Service Provider who falls under
the category or categories or who may meet the eligibility criteria as
specified under the Share Award Scheme.

The vesting period for an Award under the Share Award Scheme is
generally for a minimum period of 12 months in order to incentivise
Selected Participants to remain with the Group, save for certain
prescribed circumstances in which the Board or the Committee may
impose a shorter vesting period for Employee Participants.

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the tenth (10th)
anniversary date of the effective date of the Share Award Scheme or (ji)
such date of early termination as determined by the Board.

As at 23 December 2024 (the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme) and 30 June 2025, the aggregate number of awards available
for grant under the Share Award Scheme were 68,383,084 and the
service providers sublimit was 27,353,233 shares.

As at the date of this report, no Shares have been awarded, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption. The
selected eligible participants are not required to provide consideration
for being granted the award shares under the Share Award Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Award Scheme is 68,383,084 Shares and
the percentage of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) that it
represented is 6.95%. The maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Award Scheme is 1% of the total number of Shares in
issue. The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is 9.5 years.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all schemes of the Company during the year
divided by the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class
in issue (excluding treasury shares) for the year is 0%.

Other than the share option schemes and the share award scheme
of the Company aforementioned, at no time during the Period was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Groups overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(i) The key management personnel are those persons holding
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,
including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid
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PPL 2024
2025 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FH& T
Salaries and other benefits e kHAaEH 9,118 8,258
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS IMHAEALTRFw

(Continued)

(i) On 22 March 2023, the Group (as the borrower) and Ms. Wong
(as the lender), a substantial shareholder and director of the
Company had entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which
Ms. Wong agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$2,000,000
in aggregate principle amount which was unsecured, non-
interest bearing and had no fixed term of repayment and was
repayable on demand. The transaction contemplated under the
facility agreement constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listings Rules
as the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better
and no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.

Such amount was fully repaid during year ended 30 June 2024.

38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment properties measured as at 30 June 2025
and 2024 on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 38. A FEFEm

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have
regular market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based
on other data values or market prices. For example, valuers adopt
valuation model for assessing the market value of the properties, such
as comparing with similar assets surrounding the properties, hence,
the fair values are quoted prices for similar assets and not for identical
assets.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

Assets measured at fair value
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Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AYE FE-EBR F-EHR E=ZEBR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#E T THT FE T T#& T
As at 30 June 2025 7202546 330 H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL A FHEFFTAEmZ & MEE
— listed equity securities — FTRR A S 36,507 36,507 = =
Investment properties "EE 30,463 - — 30,463
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
NFE FEHR F_EH FZER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T T
As at 30 June 2024 R2024F6 A30H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEF AER e BEE
— listed equity securites ~ — FTRAEF 10,421 10,421 — —
Investment properties WEYE 34,262 — — 34,262
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

190

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair
value measurements are as follows:

AEETE@

BRAFEFEZEE®@®
EE-—EBRATVEISEZEHY

2024

2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTExT FAT

Investment properties HEME

At 1 July R7A1B 34,262 37,959
Currency realignment ME H, 78 B 638 (164)
Fair value adjustment on investment properties & & ¥ % 7 A {8 5 & (4,437) (3,533)
At 30 June M®6H30H 30,463 34,262

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or losses recognised in profit or loss for the year were
arisen from investment properties, and listed equity securities held
during the reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

As at 30 June 2025, the fair value of unlisted equity securities at FVTPL
amounting to HK$Nil (2024: HK$NIl) is assessed by the management
of the Group by using income approach with discounted cash flow
method (2024: discounted cash flow method).
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# ZE 202596 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 38. A FEFTE®w

Assets measured at fair value (Continued) BEAVEFEZEE@®

The fair value of all investment properties located in the Mainland were E2HURFBERNMZIEENEZ A FE
derived using the market comparable approach based on price per TRERCHMERERMS2EFEAR
square foot or square metre observed in recent market prices and KT A REREAMSGHEEEST I
adjusted for certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment of METIAUERE AZRE BEEKR -
the building age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to reflect W AFEMSEHEREEZARM
different locations and conditions. YEH 82 - DA R BRTS [R 4b Bh RAROA o

The fair value of investment properties of the Group amounted to AEBEH E2025F6 308 2 & E Y
HK$30,463,000 (2024: HK$34,262,000) as of 30 June 2025 have also ¥ 7 N F {E30,643,0007 (2024 4 :
been valued by Stirling Appraisal Limited, by using direct comparison 34,262,000/ 7T) N R EFE{H AR A A
method. FRERLEEETHE-

Investment properties/

financial assets Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group Valuation techniques & key inputs ~ Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FEBEBRENRE FUBEGAYEHE
ME SREE HEERREE@HAHE EXTUBERGAYE ATEZBE
Investment properties Direct comparison method Price per square metre, using market A slight increase in the price per
located in the Mainland BRI direct comparable and taking into square metre will increase the
IR B AR E W account the location and other fair value significantly
The key input is price per square individual factors such as age FHREREH EABES
metre of the property, which is ranged REEXIEE M
TERARBEAG T RER from HK$12,500 (equivalent to

RMB11,400) to HK$21,300 (equivalent
to RMB19,400) (2024: HK$15,000
(equivalent to RMB13,900)
to HK$23,500 (equivalent to
RMB21,800)).
FAMSAAERLRMEL TR
b B DA e M A8 B 5 EL b B
AEEBEZETHKRERN
F12,500% T (HHER AR
11,40070) £21,3005% 7t (%
A AR #19,4007T) (2024 F -
15,0008 T (BHER AR
13,9007T) £23,5005% 7t (1B 7
AR21,8007T))
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  39. &K 2 A Bt # AR R &
OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FB T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B ARz = 565 728
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables JFE Wi L th R 3K 27,322 13,255
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAEBRZZ
profit or loss TREE 17,541 4,948
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU BB A B A 69,215 64,445
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEH 3,883 158
117,961 82,806
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables FEET & R I e - E At BR 3K 1,757 3,883
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT BB A B 8 134,378 177,708
136,135 181,591
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (18,174) (98,785)
Non-current liability FRBEME
Promissory note payable FET A B iE 3,110 -
Net liabilities EEFE (20,719) (98,057)
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital % Z< 9,847 6,838
Deficit (note) & At (B 5E) (30,566) (104,895)
Total deficit B At 4aEE (20,719) (98,057)
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and AR 2R R B R 202549 A 29
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2025 HRHESSHEREETE W H T
and are signed on its behalf by: EEREES:
WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
8 BEER
Chairperson Director
EE BEFE
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  39. & &) Bt % Ak 3R ]| )
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note 1: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and the prior years Ml : ARAARAFERBAFEZHEZS
are as follows: LN

At 1 July 2023 20237 A1H 2,214,617 50 1,366,008 1,075,950 (4,825,878) (169,258)

Profit and total comprehensive 7% 4F [ 3 | [z 2 E A

income for the year B — - — — 43,848 43,848
Capital reduction B A Bl R 20,515 - — — — 20,515
At 30 June 2024 and 2024F6 4308 &

1 July 2024 20247 A1H 2,235,132 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,782,030) (104,895)

Profit and total comprehensive 2% 4F & & 1| 2 & B 4LA

income for the year k| — - — — 14,901 14,901
Issuance of new shares upon it & B {7 817 ¥R I
placing of shares less RER S
transaction cost 59,428 - — — — 59,428
At 30 June 2025 7202546 A30H 2,294,560 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,767,129) (30,566)
Note 2: As at 30 June 2025, the Company do not have reserves available for fisE2 : 202546 A30H @ AR 7 I & 7] 5
distribution which calculated in accordance with the provisions of the EEFEE(RBEAREARDERANR R
Companies Act of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws (2024 : Nil). BllEH &) (2024 : ) -
BENEEEERAR
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40. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. B A B B E
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2025 and 2024 are R20254F 20246 H30H * AR A&
as follows: MEARIZFBRT
Nominal value of
Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER EMAL/EEwSE BETRAEE/RMEL/EARE ARAMKCEARAEELH TEER
2025 2024 2025 2024
2025% 2024% 20255 2024%
Alied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ER(ER)ERAA B0 EER1ER LTaRIET RERR
Ample Splendid Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
EREERARAT ABEBRES EERI00ET  TRRI0ET RERR
Bright Creation Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of cultural and other
BEEEERAT BA EER10,0008 T LiBR10000% T products
XEREBERE S
Champion (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HKS1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ER#ES BBER1ET LTaR1IAET RERR
Champion Sports Development Limited BV Ordinary US$1,000  Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding
TEEERRARAT AEEBRES EER1000%T EEKE1,000%7T RERR
Champion Culture Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEX(LEHBRAT B0 EER10,0008 T EEARI1000057T RERR
Champion Luck International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment
BEBRRERAT £ EBER2ET L@ko#T NERE
Champion Million Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
HEEXARAH B EER2ET LERET NERE
Champion Pacific Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Property investment
BHRERRAR 0 EER2ET L@ko#T NERE
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Design and sales of renewable
Engineering Company Limited BE EER10,0008T  ZiBR10000% T energy products and solutions
BEEERRIRERAA HERRERMBATRN
Rithge
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Company Limited Bk EER10,0008T HEK10000% T energy products and solutions
BERLHRERAA IEARRERNBATRN
REMEE
Champion Smart Technology Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Inactive
Limited BA BER10,0008 T EEARI000057T gEEK
BEEEMRARAT
Champnet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
BEBEARAF B0 EER2E R L@ko#T LEEH
Chosen Vantage Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
BEGHES EERIER TaARIET EELH
Eternal Huge Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100  Ordinary HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding
KERRARAF B EERI100ET  LBERI00ET RERR

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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40. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. Kff /& 2 Al B B wo
Nominal value of
Place of issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ registered capital/ of issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMARY/BEwY ERTRAEE/EMELS/EARE RRAFBERORAEELS FEEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20245 20255 20245
Kontone International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
ARERBERAT B EER2E R LakoAT REAR
KTT (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EREE EER10000 T LiBAR10,000% T RERR
Luckiest Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting services,
Commercial) Limited EF MOP100,000 MOP100,000 research and development,
BHES(RMEE)-ABRARA EERRAMY ERRRME and trading of cultural
100,000 7% 100,0007¢ products
REBRRE WERFE
NREEXER
Magic Elite Investments Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
DRERERRAR" ABEEREE EBR50,000%5 7 Ei#k50000% T RERR
Manning Interational Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Management service
XHERARAF BB EER10,000E  Zi@HK10000% T ERRH
Marcotte Limited Samoa Ordinary USS$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEZHS EER1ZTR LaR1ET RERR
Roc Castle Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100% Investment holding
BerRERAT EREAREE EER50,000% 7 Li#Hk50000% T RERR
Skill King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERERAF ABEBARESE EER50,000% 7 EER50,000% 7T RERR
Solar Rise Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
ABREBRAR" EBEAREE EERI00ET  TRRI0ET RERR
Vast Success (Hong Kong) Finance Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Money lending
Company Limited BE HK$200,000 HK$100,000 HEEH
B (B EERBERAA EER LER
200,000% 7t 100,000% 7T
Champion Telecommunication PRC Registered Registered 100% 100% Sales of general system products
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (note ())* i capital capital and provision of services and
SmmAsy ORI ERAR HK$17,150,000 HK$8,450,000 software licensing
(MR THER HMER HE-—REZRERRRERE
17,150,000 84500007 T REMHEHE
Quanheyi Digital Technology (Shenzhen) ~ PRC Registered capital  Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of general system products
Co., Ltd. (note (i)’ HE HK$21,700,000 HK$6,500,000 and provision of services and
ERaITRE(RINBRAF TMER HREX software licensing
(P=EG) 21,700,000 ¢ 6,500,000/ 7T HE-REZBERR
RS R R ETE
Innovative Ecoglory Technology PRC Registered capital  Registered capital 51% 51% Research, development and
Company Limited (note (i) i HK$5,633,289 HK$3,223,260 operation in gas fuel energy
BRA 2 ERRER A (M i) THER FMER MAHEZHE RERSE

5,633,289 Tt 3223260 T
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40. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. (B AT BEmw

196

Hydrogen Technology Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100  Ordinary HK$100
ARMEARAT B EERI0ET  SRRI00ET
Hydrogen Research & development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 Ordinary HK$100
Limited ) EER100% T EBER100ET

RMBERAERLERAA

Notes:

(i) Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 60 years commencing from 27

June 1995.

(ii) Wholly foreign owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC.
(iii) A Sino-foreign equity joint venture incorporated in the PRC.

Directly held by the Company
For identification purposes only

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below provides details of a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group that has material non-controlling interests:

100% — Investment Holding
RERR
100% - Inactive
LEXH
Bt 3

() INEBERE  FHAR1995F6A27 B iR
FT60%F ©

(i) R EERRL 2 EBERE -
@iy ABREFEMEALZFINEERE-

- HARAEERFA
! 12 ¢ 38 51

BEEAFERRRERZ
FEEWBRARAZFHE

TRERBEEAGFERRRER 2K
SEF2EMBARZFHE:

Innovative Ecoglory ~ PRC 49% 49%
Technology H
Company Limited

BREAIZER
BERA

(6,077) - (6,143) -
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40. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. Izﬁ E /N ﬁ_] % B (&)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BREERFERRRERZ
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) (2EMB AT ZHFE@
Innovative Ecoglory Technology Company Limited BRAZERFEERA A
2025
20254
HK$’000
T T
Non-current assets EREBEE 8,970
Current assets B EE 2,588
Current liabilities mEEE (16,668)
Non-current liabilities EMBEGE 1,792)
Equity =
— Attributable to owners of the Company - WNEIE X DN X ) (759)
— Attributable to non-controlling interests —FE 1 AR AR SR A AR R A (6,143)
(6,002)
Loss for the year KEEEHE
— Attributable to owners of the Company —ARRARER AR (6,325)
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests —FEERR AR R A (S (6,077)
(12,402)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEEMEES S
— Attributable to owners of the Company - YNEIE ¥ =N et 62)
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests — IV IR AR R A PR (60)
(122)
Net cash outflow from operating activities MEEBRL 2R F8 (11,475)
Net cash outflow from investing activities BEFGHRE RS RAFE (3,042)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEFZHRAZR R FHE 14,423
BEREEEFRAR
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Ay 173 E
RESULTS E 5
Year ended 30 June
HBE6H30RILEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 F 20234 20224 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT FA T FAT FE T
Revenue Iy &= 57,311 208,612 25,292 60,969 237,473
Loss from ordinary activities B & 5& B # B B A7
before taxation B8
Loss from operating activites N8 38 E th &£ 18 B
excluding other operating ML EBER
items (51,445) (12,776) (11,675) (52,610) (52,753)
Other operating items Hib & %18 8 - - - — -
Loss before taxation MREL A& 1B (51,445) (12,776) (11,675) (52,610) (52,753)
Income tax (expense)/credit ~ FF{E 8 (X H), % 1,136 554 (597) (428) (4,189)
Loss for the year EEEEBE (50,309) (12,222 (12,272) (53,038) (56,942)
Attributable to: fEAf -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETES F =N (44,226) (12,420) (12,745) (52,410) (59,822)
Non-controlling interests JE 12 A% A% BR A = (6,083) 198 473 (628) 2,880
Dividends & £ - — — — —
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#ZE 202466 A30H [ /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

2025

2025 F
HK$’000
FET

Total assets BERE 302,180 262,389 174,030 179,045 414,892

Total liabilities BEGE (192,900)  (165,920) (45,532) 29,426 350,797

Shareholders’ funds KRRE® 109,280 96,469 128,498 149,619 64,095

Equity/(deficit) attributable to: ~ FE {5 %5, (5 4t) -

— Owners of the Company  — AR a#EA A 115,423 96,494 111,252 130,855 (6,967)
— Non-controlling interests ~ — JE3E i AR R A 25 (6,143) (25) 17,246 18,764 71,062
109,280 96,469 128,498 149,619 64,095

BENZEBERAT
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

# F 202446 A30H L /Z FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

Below is the information of the investment properties:

NTRIEEMEEHR :

Address and lot no. Existing use Lease information
b HE 57 i ER R A® HEEH
1. Unit 8A on 8th Floor, Block 4, Leased out The land use rights of the property were held

Tianiji Building, Tian’an Chegongmiao Industrial Zone,
Futian District,Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
The PRC
FREERERYTEERBRLCEABLERE
REREATRBIBBAE T

Unit 702 on Level 7 and car parking space No.36,
Jin Men Plaza,

No. 389 Jin Wan Road,

Pudong New District,

Shanghai, The PRC

FE EBTHRRE &K EFIES
7THET702%E k3655 1F E AL

Unit 703 on Level 7 and car parking space No.37,
Jin Men Plaza,

No. 389 Jin Wan Road,

Pudong New District,

Shanghai, The PRC

B B TR RO R & 2 BE 8895t & FTE 5
7TET703E K37 ELNL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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and occupied
for office use

B

/NI

Vacant

7o =

=1

Vacant

Fo ==
-

for a term expiring on 15 November 2038 for
industrial and storage uses

ZMEN LI E R E R E2038F11 A
158 AR ITEME B &

The land use rights of the property were
held for a term expiring on 30 May 2042 for
industrial use

Z W EE L A BBR 2 2042F 5 F
30H - BRIXA%E

The land use rights of the property were
held for a term expiring on 30 May 2042 for
industrial use

ZE Y L0 R AR E2042F 5 5
30H - AR I¥A%E






	COVER
	CONTENTS
	FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
	BACK COVER



